
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Charlotte Evans 
 (Tel: 01443 864210   Email: evansca1@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 31st May 2017 

 
 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held in the Sirhowy Room, Penallta House, Tredomen, Ystrad 
Mynach on Wednesday, 7th June, 2017 at 2.00 pm to consider the matters contained in the following 
agenda. 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Chris Burns 

INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 
2  Declarations of Interest.  

 
 
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on the agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council's Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers.   

 
To approve and sign the following minutes: -  
 
3  Cabinet held on 12th April 2017.  

1 - 4 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

To receive and consider the following reports on which executive decisions are required: -   
 
4  Corporate Revised Risk Strategy and Guidance.  

5 - 38 
 

5  A468/A469 Pwllypant Roundabout Highway Improvement Scheme.  
39 - 52 

 
6  Unit 21 Lawn Industrial Estate, Rhymney - Lease Renewal to the Furniture Revival, GC 

Enterprises (Wales) LTD.  
53 - 58 

 
To receive and consider the following report, which requires a recommendation to Council:- 
 
7  Bryn Compost Liaison Group Terms of Reference.  

59 - 64 
 

 
Circulation: 
Councillors C.J. Cuss, N. George, C.J. Gordon, Mrs B. A. Jones, P.A. Marsden, S. Morgan, L. Phipps, 
D.V. Poole and Mrs E. Stenner,  
 
And Appropriate Officers. 



  

 

 

 
CABINET 

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE, TREDOMEN 

ON WEDNESDAY, 12TH APRIL 2017 AT 2.00 P.M. 
 

 
PRESENT 

 
Councillor D.V. Poole – Vice Chair (Presiding) 

 
Councillors: 

 
 Mrs C. Forehead (Human Resources and Governance/Business Manager), N. George 

(Community and Leisure Services), D.T. Hardacre (Performance and Asset Management), 
D. Havard (Education and Lifelong Learning), Mrs B. Jones (Corporate Services), and T.J. 
Williams (Highways, Transportation and Engineering) 

 
 

Together with: 
 
 C. Burns (Interim Chief Executive), N. Scammell (Acting Director of Corporate Services and 

S151 Officer) and C. Harrhy (Corporate Director – Communities). 
 

Also in Attendance: 
 

 J. Elias (Service Manager – Additional Learning Needs), K. Peters (Corporate Policy 
Manager), A. Rees (Senior Policy Officer- Equalities & Welsh Language) and C. Evans 
(Committee Services Officer). 

 
 
1. DEPUTY LEADER ANNOUNCEMENT 
 
 The Deputy Leader, Councillor D.V. Poole, in memory of Council Leader Councillor Keith 

Reynolds, who sadly passed away earlier in the week, led Cabinet in a minute silence as a 
mark of respect. 

 
 The Deputy Leader paid tribute to Councillor Reynolds, an outstanding public servant, with an 

unrelenting drive and determination to do his very best for his local community and for the 
county borough. 

 
 All present extended their sincere condolences to the bereaved family at this extremely sad 

and difficult time. 
 
 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors K. James and R. Woodyatt and D. 
Street (Corporate Director – Social Services). 

  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



  

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 There were no declarations of interest received at the beginning or during the course of the 

meeting. 
 
 
4. CABINET – 29TH MARCH 2017 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 29th March 2017 (minute nos. 1 - 
6) be approved and signed as a correct record. 

 
 
 MATTERS ON WHICH EXECUTIVE DECISIONS WERE REQUIRED 
 
5. CLOSURE OF THE KEY STAGE 3 SPECIALIST RESOURCE BASE FOR CHILDREN WITH 

EMOTIONAL, BEHAVIOURAL AND SOCIAL DIFFICULTIES AT NEWBRIDGE SCHOOL, 
CONSULTATION REPORT 

 
The report provided Cabinet with an update on the formal consultation process and sought 
approval to proceed to Statutory Notice in respect of the closure of the Specialist Resource 
Base at Newbridge School. 
 
Cabinet noted that a consultation exercise took place between 23rd January and 15th March 
2017.  As a result, three responses to the consultation were received from the Headteacher of 
Newbridge School, the Governing Body of Newbridge School (both of which supported the 
proposal) and Estyn, who advised that ‘Most aspects of the proposal receive appropriate 
consideration and the proposer makes sound arguments to demonstrate how the closure 
would result in improved provision both for pupils attending the specialist resource base and 
those attending the mainstream school’.  The consultation responses and the Local Authority 
responses were detailed in the appendix to the report. 
  
Cabinet were asked to note that, in response to Estyn, the Headteacher of Newbridge 
Comprehensive stated “‘I would like to point out that Newbridge was placed in monitoring after 
inspection in June 2015 and came out of monitoring in October 2015, in other words a brief 
four month period. This has not been identified by Estyn in their comments”. 
 

 Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the recommendation 
in the report be approved.  By a show of hands this was unanimously agreed. 

 
 RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the Officers report, and in considering 

the outcome of the consultation process, it be agreed to proceed to Statutory Notice. 
 
 
6. ANNUAL EQUALITIES REPORT 2015-2016 

 
The report provided Cabinet with an update on the progress made during the financial year 
2015/2016 against targets in the Council’s current Strategic Equality Plan, and sought 
approval for its submission to the Equalities and Human Rights Commission and publication 
online. 
 
Cabinet noted that the Council has a statutory duty to produce an annual monitoring report on 
Equalities issues under current legislation. 
 
The requirements are very detailed as to what relevant information must be included in the 
annual monitoring and improvement report.  As a result, the amount of information presented 
is therefore in order to ensure that the regulatory body involved (the Equalities and Human 
Rights Commission) are provided with full evidence of the Council’s compliance and 
commitment to those statutory duties. 

Page 2



  

Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the recommendation 
contained in the report be approved.  By a show of hands this was unanimously agreed. 
 

 RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the Officers report, the Annual Equalities 
Report 2015-2016 be submitted to the Equality and Human Rights Commission and be 
published on the internet. 

 
 
 Before the closing of the Meeting, the Deputy Leader, Councillor D.V. Poole thanked those 

Officers present and all Council staff and Cabinet colleagues for their hard work and 
dedication during this administration, and wished everyone the best for the upcoming 
elections.  The Chief Executive, in turn, thanked the Cabinet for its positive and effective 
working relationship. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 2.13 p.m. 
 

Approved and signed as a correct record subject to any corrections made at the meeting held 
on 7th June 2017. 

 
 

____________________ 
CHAIR 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 
 

 

 
CABINET – 7TH JUNE 2017 

 

SUBJECT: CORPORATE REVISED RISK STRATEGY AND GUIDANCE 
 

REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To present an updated and revised Risk Management Strategy 2017 (and guidance) following 

changes in legislation. 
 
1.2 The Council’s Risk Management Strategy was approved by Cabinet in 2013.  Since that time 

the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 came into place in 2016 and requires 
Public bodies to view risk in a different way.  The Strategy has been revised to reflect this and 
we are seeking the views and approval of Cabinet prior to its presentation to Audit Committee 
on the 13th  September 2017. 

 
1.3 Members have a critical role to play in evaluating the council’s risk management 

arrangements and in particular understanding how the council identifies, manages and, where 
possible, mitigates or removes risk. Risk Management is crucial to the effective delivery of 
council services. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Council Risk Management Strategy was approved in 2013, since that time there has 

been several changes; one in particular is the introduction of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 which requires the Council to change the way it views risk in 
keeping with the principles of sustainability.  As a result the Strategy has been updated for 
2017 and is attached as Appendix 1, with accompanying guidance as Appendix 2. 

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 Management of risk is an important element in delivering council priorities and ensuring 

contribution to the well-being goals set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 (WBFGA): 

 

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales 

 A healthier Wales 

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 

 A Wales of vibrant culture & thriving Welsh language 

 A globally responsible Wales 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 At its meeting on the 17th September 2013 Audit Committee accepted the Council’s new Risk 

Management Strategy and supporting Guidelines, which were subsequently approved by 
Cabinet on the 2nd October 2013. 

 
4.2 The Strategy identified the role of Cabinet in the risk monitoring process as being: 
 

• Approve the Risk Management Strategy. 
• Approve the “risk appetite” of the Council i.e. the definition of high (red) risk, medium 

(amber) risk and low (green) risk as recommended by the Corporate Management 
Team. 

• Approve the risk “appetite”  
• Hold the Corporate Management Team accountable for the effective management of 

risk. 
• Monitor the arrangements for managing the Council’s Corporate/Whole Authority 

Risks, through six-monthly progress reports. 
• Consider the risks involved when making any decisions; (this has not changed since 

the 2013 strategy although the way this is considered may change due to the 
sustainable development principle and the 5 ways of working).  

• Receive and review the risk register and resultant action plans for the top corporate 
risks. 

• Make an appropriate allocation of resources to address identified risks and risk 
management framework. 

• Ensure that appropriate and effective communication reporting lines are in place in the 
context of risk management. 

• The Leader approves the Annual Governance Statement, and publishes it in the 
Annual Statement of Accounts. 

 
4.3 The revised Strategy (2017) does not change the identified role of Cabinet in the risk 

monitoring process as noted above but rather focuses on the way we view and monitor risk. 
 
4.4 During the three years since the Risk Management Strategy was approved not surprisingly 

there has been several changes including the introduction of several pieces of legislation.  
These include the Environment Act 2015, the Social Services & Well-being Act 2014 and 
latterly the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WBGFA).  The themes of 
these acts are about protection, taking a longer term view and a particular focus on 
prevention.  Also emphasised is a partnership approach to joint problem solving, whether that 
is sharing resources or intelligence and recognising how we can help each other to meet 
mutual goals for the benefit of the citizen. 

 
4.5 The WBFGA requires public bodies to apply five ways of working (as demonstration of 

working to sustainable development principles).  One of the five ways is to take a long term 
(10-25 years) view and to understand the causes of certain issues in order to prevent them 
occurring.  We also need to look at the strengths of an area as a way to maximise potential 
solutions and to consider the 7 well-being goals in framing our risks. 

 
4.6 This changes the way we view risk. Indeed the WBFGA legislation states in its guidance that 

a public body will need to change the way it manages risk.  Under section 3 of ‘where change 
needs to happen’ the Welsh Government Guidance states that:  
“There will be long term risks that will affect both the delivery of your services but also the 
communities you are enabling to improve. Use the well-being goals and five ways of working 
to frame what risks you may be subject to in the short, medium and long term and together 
with the steps you will take to ensure they are well managed”. 
 

4.7 This means the way we view and rate our risks will alter, for example education attainment 
may be a medium risk when viewed against year on year attainment.  However if lack of 
attainment is viewed over the long term, it could be argued that having young people leave 
school without attainment could result in low skilled or low paid employment opportunities 
which affects individual life chances and provides a barrier to reducing poverty within 

Page 6



communities.  Seen in this light, lack of education attainment could now be considered a high 
risk. 

 
4.8 Looking to the long term does not mean short term risks go away or that operational risks for 

example are less important, rather it means we have to broaden our scope to think of risks to 
the public, risks to services for those with protected characteristics and recognising strengths 
of communities as part of solutions to mitigate risk.  This needs to be recognised in any 
strategy, guidance, and training and more importantly in practise going forward. 

 
4.9 The main changes to the strategy are the inclusion of the Well being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015 and what that means for managing risk, the new Assurance Framework and 
the change of risk reporting frequency to Cabinet. 

 
4.10 One item in the original strategy suggested an additional ‘Risk Management Group’ as a 

means of monitoring risk.  Following a review a report went to Audit Committee in September 
2014 suggesting this group were removed, as it was considered the increased focus on risk 
identification and monitoring particularly at CMT/Cabinet/Audit Committee/Directorate meant 
the establishment of another group was unnecessary.  Internal Audit carried out a review of 
the Councils compliance with the Risk Strategy in 2015 and concluded that whilst we adhere 
to the strategy there were some aspects that were out of date for example the monitoring 
section had not been updated to reflect the deletion of a ‘Risk Management Group’ in 2014. 
The updated strategy now reflects these changes. 

 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WBFGA) identifies a core set of 

activities that are common to the corporate governance of public bodies where change needs 
to happen: 

 
• Corporate Planning 
• Financial Planning 
• Workforce Planning 
• Procurement 
• Assets 
• Risk Management 
• Performance Management 

 
5.2 The Corporate Risk Register incorporates the five ways of working (ICLIP) identified within the 

sustainable development principle in the WBFGA. These are: 
 

• Involving a diversity of the population in the decisions that affect them;  
• Working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions;  
• Looking to the long-term so that we do not compromise the ability of future generations 

to meet their own needs;  
• Taking an integrated approach so that public bodies look at all the well-being goals in 

deciding on their well-being objectives;  
• Understanding the root causes of issues to prevent them from occurring.  

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Local Government Measure 2009 defines fairness and access as one of the criteria that 

constitutes ‘improvement’ within the Wales Programme for Improvement. 
 
6.2  Promoting equalities is a fundamental requirement of the Future Generations legislation, with 

specific resonance for meeting the well-being goals of - A More Equal Wales, and A Wales of 
Cohesive Communities. 

 

Page 7



7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received are 

reflected in this report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That Cabinet provides their views on the Corporate Risk Strategy and having done so 

endorse the updated strategy prior to presentation to the Audit Committee. 
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To be assured that the Council is managing its risks effectively and complies with the 

Council’s Risk Management Strategy. 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Local Government Measure 2009, Wales Programme for Improvement 2010, Well-being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
 
Author: Ros Roberts: Corporate Performance Manager 
Consultees: Rob Hartshorn: Head of Public Protection 

Nicole Scammell: Acting Director of Corporate Services 
Kathryn Peters: Corporate Policy Manager 
Richard Harris: Internal Audit Manager   
Dave Street: Corporate Director of Social Services  
Christina Harrhy: Corporate Director of Communities 
Chris Burns: Interim Chief Executive  
David Roberts: Principal Group Accountant, Social Services 
Anwen Rees: Senior Policy Officer, Equalities and Welsh Language 
Shaun Watkins: Principal Personnel Officer, Social Services 
Gail Williams: Interim Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer  

 
Background Papers: 
Risk Management Policy & Guidelines 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Risk Management Strategy (Revised) Feb 2017 
Appendix 2 Risk Management Guidance (Revised) April 2017 

Page 8



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 

Reviewed and Updated 2017 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Version  Who approved  Date approved 
V1  Cabinet  17th September 2013 

V2 Audit  14th September 2014 

V3 (revision) Cabinet 7th June 2017 

V3 Audit 13th September 2017 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 9



 

2 
 

 
Contents Page  
 

 
 
 
 

Section  Content  Page 
Number 

 Risk Management Strategy  

1.0  Introduction  3 

1.1 Purpose of the Strategy 3 

1.2 Approval, Communication and Review of the Risk 
Management Strategy 

3 

1.3 What is Risk Management  4 

1.4 Why Do We Want (and Need) Risk Management  5 

1.4.1 Benefits of Managing Risk 5 

1.5 Where Does Risk Management Fit? 6 

1.5.1  Risk Management of Projects  7 

1.5.2 Partnership Risk Management  8 

 

 Risk Management Structure   

2.1  Reporting Structure  8 

2.2  Roles and Responsibilities  9 

2.2.1 Cabinet  9 

2.2.2 Audit Committee 10 

2.2.3 Scrutiny Committee 10 

2.2.4 Lead Member – Risk Management  10 

2.2.5  All Members  11 

2.2.6 Chief Executive and Corporate Management Team 11 

2.2.7 Officer Risk Champion 11 

2.2.8 Heads of Service  12 

2.2.9 Internal Audit  12 

2.2.10 Project and Partnership Leaders  13 

2.2.11 All Staff  13 

2.3  Links to Other Business Processes  13 

 

   

3.0 Conclusion 15 

3.1 Contact details for support or help 15 

Appendix A The 7 National Well-being Goals 16 

Page 10



 

3 
 

Risk Management Strategy 2017 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
During the three years since the strategy was approved there have been a number 
of changes to the risk management process, including the introduction of several 
pieces of legislation.  In particular one of the key changes is the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 which gives a statutory duty for a public body to use 
the sustainable development principle (defined by 5 ways of working) in our decision 
making and wider work.  These principles encourage us to change the way we view 
risk as they focus more on long term risks for the citizen with a focus on prevention 
by identification of root causes.  
 
This strategy has been updated to be more in keeping with the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and other organisational changes such as the 
introduction of the Corporate Governance Assurance Framework.   
 
 
1.1 Purpose of the Strategy 
 
The purpose of this Risk Management Strategy is to establish a framework for the 
effective and systematic management of risk, which will ensure that risk 
management is embedded throughout the Council and makes a real contribution to 
the achievement of the Council’s vision and objectives. 
The objectives of this strategy are: 

 Define what risk management is about and what drives risk management in 
the Council. 

 Set out the benefits of risk management and the strategic approach to risk 
management. 

 Outline how the strategy will be implemented. 

 Identify the relevant roles and responsibilities for risk management within the 
Council. 

 
Risk management is not a new responsibility, but simply the formalisation of what is 
already part of normal good working practices. It is important to emphasise, that Risk 
Management should not be an ‘add on’. It is not a separate activity that happens 
once a year along-side other management activities. Rather, it should form an 
integral part of the performance management approach of the Council.  
 
There is a detailed Risk Management Guidance document that accompanies this 
Strategy and gives further detail on how the risk management process should be 
carried out.   
 
 
1.2 Approval, Communication and Review of the Risk Management Strategy 
 
This Risk Management Strategy will be endorsed by the Executive and reviewed by 
the Audit Committee and, following approval, issued to: 

 All Members of the Council. 

 Corporate Management Team. 

Page 11



 

4 
 

 Managers and all staff. 

 Key Stakeholders such as local strategic partners. 

 Other interested parties such as the Wales Audit Office. 
 
It will be placed on the Council’s intranet and internet site so that all members of staff 
and the public can have access and easily refer to it.  
 
The strategy will be reviewed internally periodically and following any key changes in 
Welsh Government policy or inspection regimes, and after any internal 
reorganisation or changes in policy. 
 
 
1.3 What Is Risk Management? 
 
Risk can be defined as; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Risk Management can be defined as; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Risk Management is about identifying and managing those obstacles and weaknesses 
that could have a negative impact on service delivery and corporate objectives. The 
holistic approach is vital to ensuring that all elements of the organisation are 
challenged, including decision making processes, working with partners, consultation 
processes, existing policies and procedures and, also, the effective use of assets – 
both staff and physical assets.  
 
Once the obstacles have been identified, the next stage is to prioritise them to identify 
the key obstacles to the organisation moving forward. Once prioritised, it is essential 
that steps are taken to then effectively manage those key obstacles/risks. The result is 
that major obstacles or blockages that exist within the organisation can be mitigated 
to provide the Council with a greater chance of being able to achieve its objectives.  
 
The risks facing the Council will change over time, some changing continually, so 
this is not a one-off process. Instead, the approach to risk management should be 
continual and the risks and the approach to managing them should be reviewed 
regularly.  
 

The uncertainty of outcome, whether a positive opportunity or a negative threat, of 

actions or events. 

 “The management of integrated or holistic business risk in a manner consistent 

with the virtues of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. In essence it is about 

making the most of opportunities (making the right decisions) and about achieving 

objectives once those decisions are made. The latter is achieved through 

controlling, transferring and living with risks” 

ZMMS/SOLACE, Chance or choice? July 2000 

Page 12



 

5 
 

It is important to note that risks can also have an upside; their impact can in some 
cases be positive as well as negative. Risk is also often said to be the flipside of 
opportunity, so the whole risk management process can also help the Council 
identify positive opportunities that will take it forward.  Risk management needs to be 
seen as a strategic tool and will become an essential part of effective and efficient 
management and planning. 
 
1.4 Why Do We Want (and Need) Risk Management? 
 
The purpose of risk management is to identify problems before they occur so that 
they can be prevented or the opportunities capitalised on.  In this regard risk 
management is part of normal day to day business planning practice and 
performance management processes and will strengthen the ability of the Council to 
achieve its objectives by identifying the barriers to achieving those objectives.   
 
Additionally risk management is something that the Council is required to do as 
noted below: 

 CIPFA’s ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework’ is 
considered by Welsh Government to best represent proper practices in 
relation to the statement of internal controls which requires an annual 
governance statement to be produced. The 2016 Guidance for Welsh 
Authorities 4.3 (1.4) states ‘The Welsh Government accepts that relevant 
bodies will prepare an annual governance statement on internal controls’ and 
this includes mechanisms to identify high level authority risks  

 The Accounts and Audit (Wales) 2014 Regulations Part 3 which look at the 
responsibility for internal control and financial management state that a sound 
system of internal control should include (a) arrangements for the 
management of risk 

 
Whilst the above regulations are in relation to financial risk the Annual Governance 
Statement will often identify other types of risk, whether environmental, 
demographic, political or operational and this completes our whole risk management 
structure and process across the Council.    
 
1.4.1 Benefits of Managing Risk  
 
Successful implementation of risk management produces benefits for the Council if it 
becomes a living tool. These include: 
 

 A consistent approach to the way risks are managed throughout the Council. 

 Improved informed decision making – risks reported and considered within 
Council decision making. 

 Becoming less risk averse in innovation (because you understand) and, 
hence, are more innovative. 

 Improved business planning through a risk based decision making process. 

 A focus on outcomes not processes. 

 Improved performance (accountability and prioritisation) - feeds into 
performance management framework. 

 Better governance - and demonstration of it to stakeholders. 

 Helping to protect the organisation. 
 

Page 13



 

6 
 

The main benefit though is that the Council will be more likely to achieve its vision 
and the key objectives underpinning this, because the barriers are being actively 
identified and managed. 
 
1.5 Where Does Risk Management Fit? 
 
In short, the answer is “everywhere”. Effective risk management should be applied 
within all decision making processes at an appropriate scale. So, the risk 
management approach should encompass the Council’s: 
 

 Strategic and Corporate risks, which includes risks that would impact on the 
lives of citizens and their communities. 

 Risks that need to be taken into account in judgment about the medium to 
long term goals and objectives of the Council. 

 Risks that affect the successful delivery of corporate objectives and impact 
across the Council as a whole.  

 Service risks that affect the successful delivery of individual service 
objectives. They are often built into the service planning process. 

 Operational risks that managers and staff will encounter in the daily course of 
their work. 

 Project risks - effective management of risk within projects is key to their 
eventual success and major projects should have a robust risk management 
approach. 

 Partnership risks - The increasing number and scale of partnership working 
with public, private and voluntary sector partners exposes us to risk, so 
significant partnerships should have a robust risk management approach. 

 The diagram below shows where risk fits in within the Corporate Governance 
and Assurance Framework within the 2nd line of defence and shows the 
connectivity of risk within the wider assurance framework. 

 

 
 

Page 14



 

7 
 

 
This means that a consistent approach from the top to the bottom of the Council is 
required with a mechanism for risks to be escalated up (bottom up) within the 
Council whilst the top risks are also explicitly identified and managed (top down). 
 
In practice this means that the Council will carry out risk assessments and develop 
the following risk registers: 
 

 Corporate Risk Register (CRR) – Whole Authority - the strategic and 
corporate risks, related specifically to the Corporate Plan and the Well-being 
Objectives and where appropriate, the Councils contribution to the PSB Well-
being Plan.  

 Directorate Risk Register (DRR) – high levels risks identified in Service Risk 
Registers, which require close monitoring or intervention, and/or are common 
to several services within the directorate (collective control).  

 Service Risk Register (SRR) – the risks facing the service and the 
achievement of its service objectives, as outlined in the Service Business 
Plan.  

 Business Unit Risk Register (BURR) - Depending on the structure and 
complexity of the service, there may also be a need to have, Business Unit 
Risk Registers, which feeds into the Service Risk Register. 

 Specific Project Risk Registers (SPRR) – These may be required for specific 
high level projects, particularly those with external partners as identified in 
section 1.5.2  

 
 
1.5.1 Risk Management of Projects 
 
A project can be defined as:  
“A temporary organisation that is needed to produce a unique and predefined 
outcome or result at a pre-specified time using predetermined resources” PRINCE2 
 
And, to be effective, managers need to be able to manage three aspects of the 
project: 
 

 That the project delivers on time. 

 That the project delivers to the quality. 

 That the project delivers to budget. 
 

It is quite obvious that effective risk management will help this process, and is a 
requirement of all effective project management approaches. Risks should be 
identified and managed from the very outset and throughout the life of the project. It 
is essential that risks are effectively communicated and escalated within the project 
structure. 
 
All major projects will have their own risk registers relevant to the project objectives 
and plan.  Any significant risks identified should be reported to the relevant officers, 
group, or committee and included in the relevant service and / or corporate risk 
register. 
 
 

Page 15



 

8 
 

 
1.5.2 Partnership Risk Management 
 
“A third of those working in partnerships, experience problems, according to auditors. 
These problems arise when governance and accountability are weak: leadership, 
decision-making, scrutiny and systems and processes such as risk management 
are all under-developed in partnerships.” Governing Partnerships, Audit 
Commission, 2005 
 
Effective risk management of the Council’s significant partnerships is, therefore, 
essential. This will require clarity of what partnerships are and, in particular, which 
are significant. Those then require a twin track approach to risk management: 
 

 Outside looking in – the risks to the Council in getting involved in the 
partnership. 

 Inside out – the risks to the partnership achieving its objectives. 
 
The outside looking in risk should be included in the relevant service and / or 
corporate risk register. Each significant partnership should develop their own risk 
register relevant to the partnership’s objectives and plan. This should be developed 
in conjunction with all of the partners. Risk management should be integrated within 
the governance processes of the partnership. 
 
This will take on greater significance as the Government White Paper ‘Reforming 
Local Government: Resilient and Renewed (2017) places a much greater emphasis 
on regional working. 
 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

 
2.1 Reporting Structure 
 
The risk management process is a continuous one and risks can therefore, be 
reported at any time. However, risks will be formally reported in accordance with the 
existing business planning process and at least quarterly within the performance 
management part of senior management team agendas.  
 
Services will therefore, be required to revisit their risks in the light of any change and 
at least on a quarterly basis. They will report any new risks, identified progress on 
actions to mitigate existing risks and any changes to the perceived level of risk, as 
part of quarterly performance management meetings or on an exceptions basis if 
any significant activity occurs between the quarterly meetings. 
 
Corporate Management Team will consider new corporate risks, changes to existing 
risks and escalated risks on at least a quarterly basis. They will report on the top 
corporate risks, the progress on actions to mitigate those existing risks, and any 
significant changes to the perceived level of those risks formally to Cabinet and Audit 
Committee on a six-monthly basis (twice a year). Risk reporting is part of service 
performance scrutiny reporting.  Any significant activity occurring between the formal 
reporting will be considered and reported on an exceptions basis.  

Page 16



 

9 
 

 
Each senior management team from the directorate will act as a filter to assess 
service risks which need to be escalated for consideration by the Corporate 
Management Team and also the corporate risks which need consideration at a 
Service level. This will ensure a consistent top down and bottom up approach and 
that there is always an up to date view of the key risks facing the Council and how 
they are being managed. 
 
This Risk Management Strategy should also be periodically reviewed and updated if 
considered necessary. The reporting structure is represented below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
2.2 Roles and Responsibilities 
 
The following describes the roles and responsibilities that Members and officers will 
play in introducing, embedding and owning the risk management process: 
 
 
2.2.1 Cabinet 
 

 Approve the Risk Management Strategy. 

 Approve the “risk appetite” of the Council i.e. the definition of high (red) risk, 
medium (amber) risk and low (green) risk as recommended by the Corporate 
Management Team. 

 Approve the risk “appetite” in light of the new way to view risk through the lens 
of the sustainable development principles, the short/medium/long term, and 
the 7 Well-being Goals (Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015).    

 Hold the Corporate Management Team accountable for the effective 
management of risk. 

 Monitor the arrangements for managing the Council’s Corporate/Whole 
Authority Risks, through six-monthly progress reports. 

Business Unit Risks 
Partnership Risks 

Service Risks   

Directorate Risk 
(some raised to 
whole authority 

level)  

Corporate / Whole 
Authority Risks 

Monitored at CMT 

(New Risks added) 

Status reported to 
Cabinet  

Status reported to 
Audit Committee 

Audit commitee 
monitor progress (ad 
hoc & identifying  any 
other high level risk) 

Whole Authority 
and Directorate 

Risk Registers 
updated 

Registers updated, 
identifying, mitigating 
monitoring and starts 

cycle again 

Page 17



 

10 
 

 Consider the risks involved when making any decisions; considering the 
sustainable development principle (5 ways of working). 

 Receive and review the risk register and resultant action plans for the top 
corporate risks. 

 Make an appropriate allocation of resources to address identified risks and 
risk management framework. 

 Ensure that appropriate and effective communication reporting lines are in 
place in the context of risk management. 

 The Leader approves the Annual Governance Statement, and publishes it in 
the Annual Statement of Accounts. 

 
 
2.2.2 Audit Committee 
 

 Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
framework. 

 Review the Council’s Risk Management Strategy and how it is being 
implemented. 

 Review and challenge the risk register and resultant action plans for the top 
corporate risks. 

 Receive, review and challenge progress in implementing action plans for the 
Council’s key strategic and corporate risks. 

 Satisfy themselves’ that robust processes and procedures exist and are 
applied for the management of operational risks, including health & safety 
risks. 

 Participate in mandatory or updated training in the area of risk management. 
 
 
2.2.3 Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Identify significant risks to be scrutinised in more detail as part of their annual 
work programme, as appropriate. 

 Satisfies itself, that robust processes and procedures exist and are applied for 
the management of risks within the organisation, including health & safety 
risks. 

 
 
2.2.4 Lead Member – Risk Management 
 
The Lead Member for risk management is the Cabinet member with responsibility for 
performance.  Responsibilities include: 


 Champions and encourages the use of effective risk management within 
the Council – to both members and officers. 

 Raise awareness of risk management within the Council and to ensure that 
training and education needs in respect of risk management are identified 
and addressed. 

 Attends the Audit Committee and Scrutiny Committees to report progress on  
risk management, with appropriate officers. 

Page 18



 

11 
 

 Attempts to resolve issues/barriers facing the embedding of effective risk 
management. 

 
2.2.5 All Members 
 
Members are responsible for governing the delivery of services to the local 
community and have a responsibility to understand the risks that their Council faces 
and be aware of how these risks are being managed. One way of gaining assurance 
that identified risks are being effectively managed is by robust, constructive 
challenge and scrutiny.  Members can also raise ‘strategic risks’ either through their 
committee, or by contacting the relevant Director or the Performance Management 
Unit if they are unsure of where to raise the emergent risk. 
 
 
2.2.6 Chief Executive and Corporate Management Team 
 
The Chief Executive and Corporate Management Team are pivotal in the promotion 
and embedding of risk management by managing a culture change within the 
Council. They are responsible for managing strategic and corporate risks, as well as 
the service risks in their individual areas of responsibility. 
Their key tasks are to: 
 

 Review the Council’s approach to risk management and supporting processes 
and recommend for approval any subsequent changes. 

 Recommend the Risk Management Strategy to members. 

 Propose the “risk appetite” of the Council i.e. the definition of high (red) risk, 
medium (amber) risk and low (green) risk. 

 Support and promote risk management throughout the Council – with each 
member ensuring that it works effectively in their own areas of responsibility. 

 Actively identify, analyse and profile strategic and corporate risks at least 
quarterly. 

 Determine and prioritise action on strategic and corporate risks, allocating 
individual ownership of the key risks to appropriate members of Corporate 
Management Team.  

 Each Director will act as lead officer for the risks allocated to them and be 
held accountable for ensuring that risk improvements are delivered. 

 Receive escalated service risks and consider their inclusion onto the 
corporate risk register. 

 Monitor progress of risk arrangements as part of existing performance 
management arrangements. 

 Report quarterly to the Executive on the key risks and their management. 

 Ensure that (where appropriate) “key decision” reports include a section to 
demonstrate that arrangements are in place to manage any risks. 

 Ensure that the Council has robust processes and procedures in place that 
are consistently applied, for the management of operational risks, including 
health & safety risks. 

 The Chief Executive is required to agree and sign the Annual Governance 
Statement, ensure publication of it in the annual Statement of Accounts. 

 
 
 

Page 19



 

12 
 

2.2.7 Officer Risk Champion 
 
The Acting Director of Corporate Services is the Officer Risk Champion and leads on 
all risk management issues. Responsibilities include: 

 Ensuring that a Risk Management Strategy is developed to reflect the 
changing nature of the Council. 

 Ensure that a robust framework is developed to deliver and implement the 
strategy. 

 Inform on a regular basis of developments in the risk management 
processes and outcomes. 

 Champion the process of risk management as good management practice 
and a valuable management tool. 

 
 
2.2.8 Heads of Service 
 
Their primary role is to manage service risks by: 

 Promoting risk awareness within their service. 

 Facilitate risk assessments within their service area to develop a Service Risk 
Register – linked to the Self-Evaluation and Service Performance Plan. 

 Receive escalated Business Unit risks and consider their inclusion onto the 
Service Risk Register. 

 Actively identify, analyse and profile service risks on a quarterly basis - linked 
to the Service Performance Plan. 

 Determining and prioritising action on service risks, allocating individual 
ownership of the key risks to appropriate managers within their service. 

 Escalate the top risks, those above the acceptable tolerance line.  

 Incorporating the risk management process into service planning processes 
ensuring that these are fed into the business plan. 

 Promoting and encouraging staff to be open and honest in identifying risks or 
missed opportunities. 

 Ensuring that the risk management process is an explicit part of all major 
projects and change management initiatives. 

 Monitor and report progress of risk management activities as part of existing 
performance management arrangements. 

 Ensure that processes and procedures for the management of operational 
and Health & Safety risks are consistently and robustly applied within the 
Service. 

 
 
2.2.9 Internal Audit 
 
To maintain independence and objectivity, Internal Audit is not responsible or 
accountable for risk management or for managing risks on management’s behalf. 
Internal Audit will: 
 

 Audit the risk management process. 

 Support risk identification and assessment workshops, as appropriate. 

 Assess the adequacy of the mechanisms for identifying, analysing and 
mitigating key risks. 

Page 20



 

13 
 

 Provide assurance to officers and Members on the effectiveness of controls. 

 The Risk Register will in part drive the Internal Audit Strategic Plan to ensure 
resources are used on the areas of highest risk and where the need for 
assurance is greatest. Page 7 of the accompanying ‘Risk Guidance’ shows 
the diagrammatical representation of the Councils Assurance Framework’ 

 
 
2.2.10 Project and Partnership Leaders 
 
Project and partnership leaders have a responsibility to ensure that the risks 
associated with their activity are identified, recorded and regularly reviewed as part 
of the project management process. Significant risks must be reported and included 
in the relevant Service Risk Register or the Corporate Risk Register. 
 
 
2.2.11 All Staff 
 
All staff have a responsibility to: 
 

 Manage risk effectively in their job and report opportunities and risks to their 
service managers. 

 Identify and escalate risks when they arise for example as part of the 
corporate safeguarding policy (information on the intranet). 

 Participate in risk assessment and action planning where appropriate. 

 Adhere to Council policies and procedures. 

 Attend training and development sessions as appropriate. 
 
 
2.3 Links to Other Business Processes 
 
There is a link between risk management, self-evaluation and service planning, 
emergency planning and business continuity.  However, it is important for the 
success of risk management that the roles of each, and the linkages, are clearly 
understood.  
 
Self-Evaluation and Service Plans:  The process of Self-Evaluation (SE) is about 
gaining organisational intelligence as to what is working, what is not and what the 
risks are.  The SE gives a structure of which to test thinking around service 
judgements and its risks.  The management of the risks are then transferred into the 
Service Plan (SP) to identify mitigating actions and monitor the effectiveness of 
those actions (although not all risks can have mitigating actions) and this links the 
SE and the SP to the risk management process. This process should be inclusive of 
the staff who are often the best placed to action plan for improvement. 
 
Risk Management; is about trying to identify and manage those risks which are 
more than likely to occur and where the impact on our objectives can be critical or 
even catastrophic. 
 
Business Continuity Management; is about trying to identify and put in place 
measures to protect your priority functions against catastrophic risks that can stop 
your organisation in its tracks. There are some areas of overlap e.g. where the I.T 

Page 21



 

14 
 

infrastructure is not robust then this will feature as part of the organisation risk 
assessment and also be factored into the business continuity plans. 
 
Emergency Planning; is about managing those incidents that can impact on the 
community (in some cases they could also be a business continuity issue) e.g. a 
plane crash is an emergency, but may impact on service delivery also. 
   
 

3.0 CONCLUSION 
 
This strategy sets the foundation for continued integration of risk management into 
the Council culture. It shows the process being applied across the Council to ensure 
consistency and clarity in understanding the role and benefits of strategic risk 
management. 
 
The quarterly reporting and escalation of risks should interlock with the existing 
quarterly arrangements for performance reporting. The intention being that the 
management of risks is incorporated into business plans so that reporting on 
performance naturally reports progress on the mitigation of risks.  
 
The strategy now reflects the longer term view of risk as required by the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and to view risk within the sustainable 
development principles as to how our potential decisions can affect the well-being of 
the communities we serve. 
 
 
3.1 Contact details for support or help 
 
For further details on this strategy or how to apply it, please contact  
Performance Management on 01443 864238 or email www.PMU@caerphilly.co.uk 
  
The Strategy can be read in conjunction with the Risk Guidance.  The guidance 
provides the details in how to apply the strategy at an operational level. 
  

Page 22

http://www.PMU@caerphilly.co.uk/


 

15 
 

Appendix A  The 7 Well-being Goals 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Goal Description of the Goal 

A prosperous Wales 

An innovative, productive and low carbon society which 

recognises the limits of the global environment and therefore 

uses resources  efficiently and proportionately (including acting 

on climate change), and which develops a skilled and well-

educated population in an economy which generates wealth 

and provides employment  opportunities, allowing people to 

take advantage of the wealth generated through securing 

decent work. 

A resilient Wales 

A nation which maintains and enhances a biodiverse natural 

environment with healthy functioning ecosystems that support 

social, economic and ecological resilience and the capacity to 

adapt to change (for example climate change).  

A healthier Wales  

A society in which people’s physical and mental well-being is 

maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit 

future health are understood.  

A more equal Wales 

A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter 

what their background or circumstances (including their socio 

economic background and circumstances). 

A Wales of  

cohesive                             

communities 

Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected communities. 

A Wales of vibrant                     

culture and thriving 

Welsh language 

A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the 

Welsh language, and which encourages people to participate 

in the arts, and sports and recreation 

A globally                                 

responsible Wales 

A nation which, when doing anything to improve the economic,  

social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, takes 

account of whether doing such a thing make a positive 

contribution to global well-being.  

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



 

1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE 2017 
 

 
 
 

To accompany the Council’s 
Risk Management Strategy 2017 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Version  Who approved  Date approved 

V1  Cabinet  17th September 2013 

V2 Audit  14th September 2014 

V3 (revised) Cabinet 7th June 2017 

V3 Audit  13th September 2017 

 
 

 
 

Page 25



 

2 

 

 
 
 
Implementing Risk Management 
 
 
This guidance document accompanies the Council’s Risk Management Strategy and 
the current Service Plan Guidance, so reference should be made to all documents.  
 
The purpose of this document is to provide practical advice on how to implement the 
strategy and provide a consistent approach across the Council.  
 
 
The Risk Management Process 
 
The process for identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring risk is an integral 
part of the management process. The continual identification and assessment of risk 
is key to the successful delivery of our outcomes.  
 
The changing external environment and the decisions made in the course of running 
the Council will continuously alter the status of risks identified and new risks 
emerging. The risk assessment process should support this on-going and forward-
looking identification and assessment of risk as part of running the Council.  
 
An overview of the risk assessment process is shown below: 

 

 

 
 
The risk register is how risks are documented.  The current risk register format is 
included in Appendix 1.  Its purpose is to provide a consistent method for capturing 
risk information.  While it should be used at all steps in the process, it is important to 
make it a relevant and dynamic document.  Its main purpose is to help ensure we 
take action where we need to.   
 
 
 

 Step 2 
Identify  

Step 3 
Assess    

Step 4 

Prioritise 

Step 5 
Respond  

Step 6 
 Monitor  
 

Step 7 
Review and 
Report   

Step 1 
Define Scope & 
Objectives 

 
Step 8 
Communicate and 

Consult 

Page 26



 

3 

 

 
 
 
The Corporate Risk Register documents the risks to the Council as a whole.   
In addition, each Directorate, Service and Partnership is required to maintain an  
up-to-date risk register.  It is left to the Service to decide whether it also records its 
risk assessment and maintains risk registers at business unit level.  This will depend 
on the size, complexity and range of activities in the service.   
 
Project risks should be identified during the Project Initiation Document (PID) stage 
and, where a project progresses, the Project Manager is required to maintain an up-
to-date risk register for that project.   
 
Risk assessment will not be relevant or dynamic if we just go through the motions of 
writing down lists of risks.   
 
Risk assessments, at all levels, are carried out within the regular business planning 
cycle, making risk management part of an established process, and ensures that the 
mitigation actions for key risks are included within business plans.  As risk 
management is integrated with business planning, the existing performance 
management system is used to measure risk management performance. 
 
 
Stage 1 – Define Objectives  
 
It is important that those involved in the risk assessment process clearly understand 
the relevant key business objectives i.e. ‘what we want to achieve’ in order to be able 
to identify ‘the barriers to achievement’.  The more clearly objectives are defined; the 
easier it will be to consider those risks that could actually impact on objectives. 
Objectives must therefore be SMART (Specific, Measurable, Agreed, Realistic and 
Time bound).  It follows therefore that:- 

 Corporate and strategic risks are identified and prioritised in relation to the 
Council’s Vision and key objectives. 

 Directorate and Service risks are identified and prioritised in relation to the service 
business plan. 

 Partnership and project risks are identified and prioritised in relation to the 
particular objectives of the partnership / project. 

 All of the above are identified within the 5 ways of working (the sustainable 
development principle). 

 
 
Stage 2 – Risk Identification 
 
Risk identification attempts to identify the Council’s and citizens exposure to 
uncertainty. To ensure that key risks are identified, the process requires imagination, 
creativity, ingenuity and wide involvement as well as a methodical framework.  
 
This is probably one of the most important steps of the process, as we can only 
attempt to manage risks we have identified. To try and achieve a robust risk 
assessment, it is useful to consider the whole spectrum of risk, which is all of the 
various areas where the Council or service may face risk. The following categories 
may be used as prompts to aid the thought process: 

Page 27



 

4 

 

 
 
 
These are explained in more detail within Appendix 2 (which gives examples but is 
not an exhaustive list). Using the prompts, various techniques can be used to begin 
to identify risks including:-  

 Risks in relation the achievement of the national Well being goals and the 
statutory duty to the 5 ways of working (ICIP) see below 

 Brainstorming / workshops 

 Horizon scanning (10-15 years) (looking to the future over a longer term. 

 Past experience; (needs a mixed group) 

 SWOT/PESTLE analysis or similar. 

 Exchange of information/good practice with others.  

 Or to ask a ‘one off’ question of staff who do the work – “What happens now?” 
 
It is important to also identify those risks where their contribution to objectives are 
not totally clear, particularly at operational or service levels where risks to safety and 
financial loss should also be considered, as should risks around compliance and 
statutory requirements. 
 
A move away from traditional risk identification is to consider risks that will affect the 
public or citizen not just internal risks.  We need to show how our decisions and risks 
of those decisions will affect the well-being of future generations in the short, 
medium and long-term.   
 
No one person holds all the risks, so it is critical to good identification and 
understanding to ensure that the process is as comprehensive as possible, meaning 
a mixed group of all grades of staff should identify the risks whatever method(s) are 
used.   
 
We have a ‘duty’ to maximise our contribution to the Well-being Goals, so we need 
to show this in our planning and our risk identification and assessment in 
understanding how we maximise our contribution to the Well being Goals.   
Appendix 4 details the 5 ways of working and how this will impact risk 
identification.  This is also available within the service planning guidance which is on 
the intranet.  
 
Risks should be captured whether they are under the Council’s direct control or not.  
For significant partnerships, the risks to the Council as well as the risks to the 
partnership itself need to be considered.  

Page 28



 

5 

 

 
Risk can also be identified in the service’s annual self evaluation where the relevant 
managers take an evidenced based approach to identify how good (or otherwise) the 
service is performing.  Depending on the evidence and the conclusions reached this 
process will also identify risks that are emerging. 
 
Finding the right words (which is explained in the Service Plan guidance), to properly 
define a risk is important so it is clear to someone unfamiliar with the service as to 
what the risk is. A good guide is that we must be able to look back and say whether 
the risk event occurred or not. It is advisable to start a description with “The risk 
that…”, or “The risk of……”.  Only using a short phrase normally leaves too much 
room for different interpretation, e.g. “IT failure” compared to “The risk that failure of 
the outdated system will results in… (then be as specific as possible)”.  This way risk 
registers will be clear to those who may not be familiar with the background of the 
risk when the register is being monitored.  
 
Staff should be able to raise risks with managers at any time to allow for emerging 
risks so it is not just at a fixed period in time. Alternatively staff or members can 
contact the Performance Management Unit for advice on identifying risks, contact 
details are on page 10.    
 
 
Stage 3 – Assess 
 
Having identified a risk (or vulnerability) it is important to assess the causes or 
triggers, the potential consequences/impact and how effectively it is being managed. 
It is the management of the cause(s) and consequence(s) that determines how well 
a risk is controlled.  This, in turn, determines what further actions may be necessary. 
 
The vulnerability is essentially the risk, or the weakness that currently exists.  The 
triggers are what are or could cause the risk to materialise, whilst the consequences 
are the ‘worst likely’ chain of events that could occur were the trigger to occur. 
 
When assessing the risk impact and likelihood we do so on a residual basis. The 
residual risk is the risk as it currently stands with existing controls in place.  
 
 
Stage 4 – Prioritise Risks 
 
As there is finite time and resources available, not all identified risks can be 
managed, so following identification and analysis the risks will need to be evaluated 
to assess the really key ones.  The likelihood and severity or impact of each risk is, 
therefore, assessed within the relevant timeframe of the business plan/project. 
 
Likelihood is assessed by asking how likely it is that the trigger event should occur in 
the given timeframe.   
The challenge for each risk is how much impact it could have or is having on the 
ability to achieve or deliver an objective or to the public detriment.  
 
Appendix 3 provides risk assessment criteria for corporate risks. The risk 
assessment criteria used is for guidance and allows the assessment to be more 
objective enabling risks to be prioritised and escalated consistently.   
 

Page 29



 

6 

 

The risk assessment criteria can be used as a guide for Service, Project, and 
Partnership risks but will need to be scaled in relation to size, budget and 
prominence of the Service, Project or Partnership concerned.   
 
When looking at likelihood of occurrence, the following is for guidance:   
 

Likelihood of Occurrence Table 
Score 
Rating 

Unlikely to Occur  1 

Lower than average chance of occurrence in most circumstances  2 

Moderate chance of occurrence 3 

Higher than moderate chance of occurrence  4 

Expected to occur in most circumstances 5 

 
When looking at the impact of the risk if it were to occur the following is for guidance: 
 
 

Impact Table  (considerations) 
Score 
Rating 

• Operational performance of service area would not be materially affected 
and the authority would not encounter any significant accountability 
implications. 

• The interest of stakeholders would not be affected. 
• Public perception of the organisation would remain intact 
• Minor detrimental impact on the well-being of future generations in the 

short term or missed opportunity to improve the social, economic, cultural 
and environmental well-being of an area or its citizens,  

1 

• Slight Inconvenience for the performance of the service area. 
• Some accountability implications, but would not affect the ability to meet 

key reporting requirements. 
• Recovery from such consequences would be prompt. 
• Some minor effects on ability of stakeholders to pursue rights and 

entitlements. 
• Public perception of the organisation would alter slightly, but no significant 

damage or disruption. 
• Minor impact of the risk on the well being of future generations but 

impact could escalate badly for our citizens if not addressed. 

 
2 

• Operational performance would be compromised and revised planning 
maybe required. 

• The organisation would have trouble in complying with key reporting 
requirements. 

• Recovery would be more gradual and require redirection of resources and 
planning adjustments. 

• Stakeholders would experience considerable difficulty in pursuing rights 
and entitlements. 

• Adverse public reaction would result in some damage and disruption to the 
authority. 

• Medium detrimental impact  (or missed opportunity) to the social, 
economic, cultural and environmental well-being of an area or its 
citizens particularly over the medium term (10 years plus)  

 
3 
 
 

Page 30



 

7 

 

• Operational performance would be severely affected.  
• The organisation would not be able to comply with the majority of its 

reporting requirements effectively. 
• Recovery from consequences would be highly compromised. 
• Stakeholders would be unable to pursue their rights and entitlements. 
• Public Reaction would result in major disruptions.  
• The well being of future generations would be severely impacted 

4 

• Operational performance would be severely compromised. 
• Accountability implications would result in not being able to meet reporting 

requirements. 
• There would be significant financial losses. 
• Recovery would be severely compromised. 
• Stakeholders would face severe consequences.  
• Major adverse repercussions would affect large sectors of the authority, its 

clients and the public. 
Significant detrimental impact or missed opportunity to improve the well-
being of future generations and the social, economic, cultural and 
environmental well-being of an area and or its citizens, particularly over 
long term (25 years) 

5 

 
 
It is important when scoring the likelihood and impact of risks that a balanced view is 
taken. Once the likelihood and impact is scored the risk can be rated and prioritised.  
 
For example if an impact is 3   x 4 Likelihood of Occurrence this would give a score 
of 12, identifying this as a risk category of Medium. 
 
The combination of likelihood and severity/impact provides a risk score allowing risks 
to be plotted on the matrix and set the risks in perspective against each other.   
 
 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

5      

 

Likelihood 

4      
1 Unlikely 
2 Lower than average chance of occurring 
3 Moderate 
4 Likely 
5 Almost Certain / expected 3      

2      Severity 

1      
1 Insignificant (low) 
2 Minor (low)  
3 Moderate (medium) 
4 Major (medium/ significant) 
5 Catastrophic (significant)   1 2 3 4 5 

  Severity/Impact 

 
Those risks towards the top right hand corner with higher likelihoods and impacts 
(red) are the most pressing with the priority falling as we move down to the bottom 
left hand corner. 
 
This prioritisation helps us decide where to focus our risk management efforts.  
Those risks in the green blocks should not be ignored but no significant effort or 
resource will be used to manage them. 
 
 Page 31



 

8 

 

 
Stage 5 – Respond to Risks 
 
This is vitally important as it is during this stage that improvement actually occurs.  
There are normally options for improving the management of a risk and they fall into 
the following categories.   
  
 

Response  Which means?  Example  

Tolerate  Do nothing 
‘extra’ to 
manage the risk 

Where current control measures are sufficient to 
reduce the likelihood and impact of risk to a 
tolerable level that there is no added value in doing 
more, or not cost effective or realistic to try and 
manage it further.  
Where risks that are outside of our control and we 
have no influence over them e.g. Government 
introducing legislation that has a negative impact on 
the Council. These risks have to be accepted, but 
can be monitored.  

Treat  Mitigating the 
risk by 
managing: 

 the likelihood 

 the impact 

 or both 

 Use the ICLIP 
model for 
potential 
solutions 

 

The most likely form of management for the majority 
of risks. Developing SMART actions to manage the 
likelihood of risks occurring, their impact if they 
were to occur, or both.  
Preventative controls are used to mitigate likelihood 
– to ensure something does not happen e.g. 
training so that staffs do not do something in the 
wrong way or firewalls to prevent computer virus 
attack. Impact is often mitigated with some kind of 
contingency e.g. alternative service providers or 
alternative service arrangements.  
 

Transfer  Insurance / 
outsourcing / 
partnerships  

Insurance, although will not be applicable for most 
of the risks faced.  
Outsourcing or entering into partnerships may 
transfer certain risks, however, will inevitably create 
new and different risks which have to be managed.  
 

Terminate  Stop doing an 
activity  

Where a risk could be so serious that there is no 
other option but to terminate the activity that is 
generating the risk.  This can be difficult for a local 
authority given the number of statutory functions, 
however, non-statutory services could cease.  
 

 
Where required, specific actions should be developed with defined ownership and 
timescales. When the risk assessment is conducted alongside the business planning 
process, actions should be integrated in the business plan. 
 
In determining what actions are required, it is important to consider the effect these 
will have on controlling the risk in question, and specifically what change they will 
make to the impact and/or likelihood of the risk.  Consideration should also be given 
here as to the ‘Cost-Benefit’ of each control weighed against the potential cost 
/impact of the risk occurring. N.B. ‘cost/impact’ here includes all aspects including 
financial, resourcing, but also reputational.  

Page 32



 

9 

 

 
 
Stage 6 – Monitoring Risks 
 
The monitoring of risks is a normal management activity and as such should be 
integrated as part of normal line management responsibilities.  Risk Management is 
not a one off exercise – it needs to be an integral part of the way we work.  Progress 
in managing risks will be monitored and reported so that losses are minimised and 
intended objectives are achieved.  
 
Monitoring of risks and the actions identified to mitigate them is, therefore: 

 part of existing performance monitoring timetables; 

 focused on those risks that have been given the higher priority (red). 
 
Service risks and the actions identified to mitigate them will be formally monitored 
and reviewed as part of quarterly Service Plan Reviews. 
Risks identified and assessed as per stage 2 to 4 can be monitored at a Directorate 
Risk level and each Directorate has a risk register identical to the register in 
Appendix 1 
 
 
Stage 7/8 – Review and Report / Communicate And Consult 
 
The annual planning process is the point at which outcomes are reviewed and 
revised and is, therefore, a logical point at which to also review key risks and how  
they are managed.  Service Evaluation and planning presents the opportunity to be 
forward looking and pro-active in our management of risk.  Within the planning 
process (e.g. business cases, service plans) it is necessary to answer three main 
questions: 

 Have we considered what we need to do in the year(s) ahead to deliver our plans, 
and the risks of not doing these things? (the opportunities) 

 Have we considered what might go wrong, with significant impact, to the well 
being of our citizens, and how we would spot it in a timely manner? 

 Have we considered external risks and identified those it is realistic for us to plan 
for? (this can be identified in section 7 of the self-evaluation)  
 

Discussion, review and reporting of risk should take place at regular management 
and team meetings.  Key risks and action progress should be reviewed at these 
meetings as determined by the severity of the risk.  
 
Regular internal reports enable managers and Members to be fully aware of the 
extent of the risks and the changes occurring to them. In practice, risks will be 
reported as part of the performance management and business planning processes. 
 
Internal reporting arrangements provide different levels of the Council with the most 
appropriate information.  The reporting process is explained in detail in the Risk 
Management Strategy but is summarised below: 
 

Page 33



 

10 

 

 

 

 

Directorates and Performance Management will act as “gatekeeper” for those risks 
being pushed up from Service and Directorate Risk Registers to the Corporate Risk 
Register and risks pushed down from the Corporate Risk Register to Directorate or 
Service Risk Registers.  This will ensure consistency and identify common themes. 
 
New risks identified should be added to the relevant risk register as soon as 
they have been identified.  Where this is a significant (red) risk it must be  
reported on an exception basis through the relevant management structure and not 
left until the next routine round of reporting. 
 
The likelihood and impact of each risk must be regularly reviewed in the light of the 
effects of control measures or other factors affecting the risk.  Where the control 
measures are successful the risk score should reduce but where the control 
measures are ineffective or inadequate the risk score could increase.  Under such 
circumstances the existing mitigation action must be reviewed and consideration 
given to introducing additional control measures. 
 
Where a previously identified risk is no longer a risk to the objectives, consideration 
should be given to removing the risk from the relevant risk register.  This should only 
be done once the risk has been sufficiently scrutinised as part of the relevant 
performance management or member review.  
 
The updated CMT risk register will go on the intranet following its update. 
 
All aspects of the risk management process will reviewed at least once a year. 
 
Training materials and training workshops are available from the Performance 
Management Unit as our templates for monitoring specific risk actions and 
improvements on 01443 – 864238 or www.pmu.gov.uk 
  

Cabinet 

Corporate Management Team 

Heads of 
Service 

Heads of 
Service 

Heads of 
Service 

Quarterly 
report 

Quarterly 
report 

Quarterly 
update  

Top corporate 
risks 

considered 

Top corporate 
& Directorate  

risks assessed 

Service risks 
considered 

Directorate 

All staff & Managers 

6 
monthly 
update 

Top corporate 
risks monitored 

providing   
assurance  

Page 34

http://www.pmu.gov.uk/


 

 

Appendix 1 – Risk Register 
 
Ref Area Background 

information

Actual Risk   Mitigation actions - what we are doing to 

reduce the risk and by when.  Have we 

considered the five ways of working to help 

with a solution? (see ICLIP key)

Current 

Risk Level 

2016-17   

(Oct 2016)

Comments from latest risk 

review

Does this effect the 

Well-being of Future 

Generations in our 

Communities?

Long term        

(20-25 

years) / 

medium / or 

short-term 

risk

FGA Risk 

Level

Risk Owner

CMT01 Financial Give details of how 

situation arose and 

the root causes and 

any relevant 

background 

What is the actual issue? What is the 

cause and what is the effect

What can you do about it? Do you have any 

mitigating actions? 

Low - the 

rating e.g 

how likely is 

it to happen 

x if it did how 

significant 

would it be?

Progress update looking outside - how 

will this risk affect our 

citizens

What is the 

impact of this 

risk over the 

long term?

Medium Who owns the 

risk

HighP
age 35



 

 

 
Appendix 2 – Categories of Risk 
 

Political 
Arising from the political situation 

 Change of Government Policy 

 Political make-up 

 Election cycles 

 Decision-making structure 

 Abuse (e.g. fraud, corruption) 

 Reputation management 
 

Economic & Financial 
Arising from the economic situation  

and the financial planning framework 

 Treasury – investment, reforms 

 Demand predictions 

 Competition and the effect on price 

 General/regional economic situation 

 Value/cost of capital assets 
 

Community  
Demographics, social trends and meeting  

customer needs or expectations  

 Residential patterns and profile  

 Social care 

 Regeneration 

 Customer care 

 Quality of community consultation 
 

Technological 
Arising from the ability to deal with pace of change, 

and the technological situation 

 Capacity to deal with change/advance 

 State of architecture 

 Obsolescence of technology 

 Current performance and reliability 

 Security and standards 

 Failure of key system or project 
 

Legislative/Regulatory 
Arising from current and potential legal changes and/or 

possible breaches and the organisation’s regulatory 
information 

 New legislation and regulations e.g. Well being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 Exposure to regulators 

 Legal challenges/judicial review 

 Adequacy of legal support 

Environmental  
Concerned with the physical environment 

 Type of environment (urban, rural, mixed) 

 Land use – green belt, brown field sites 

 Waste disposal and recycling issues 

 Impact of civil emergency (i.e. flood) 

 Traffic problems, planning & transport 

 Pollution, emissions, noise 

 Climate change & energy efficiency 
 

Professional/Managerial  
The need to be managerially and professionally 

competent 

 Peer reviews (e.g other authorities)  

 Stability of officer structure 

 Competency and capacity 

 Management frameworks and processes 

 Turnover, recruitment and retention 

 Profession-specific issues 

 Morale / sickness / productivity 
 

Physical Hazards and Health & Safety 
Physical hazards associated with people, land, 

buildings, vehicles and equipment 

 Health, safety and wellbeing of staff, partners 
and the community 

 Accident and incident record keeping 

 Maintenance practises 

 Security of staff, assets, buildings, equipment 

 Nature and state of asset base 

Partnership/Contractual 
Partnerships, contracts and collaboration 

 Key partners - public, private & voluntary 

 Accountability frameworks and partnership 
boundaries 

 Large-scale projects with joint ventures 

 Outsourced services 

 Relationship management 

 Change control/exit strategies 

 Business continuity  

 Partnerships – contractual liabilities 
 

 

P
age 36



 

 

Appendix 3 – Risk Assessment Criteria 
 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 
Event is expected to 

occur or occurs regularly 

Monthly or 
more 

frequently 

Almost 
Certain 

5      

Event will probably 
occur 

Annually Likely 4      

Event may occur 
1 in 2 
years 

Possible / 
Moderate 

3      

Event could occur 
1 in 3 
years 

Unlikely 2      

Event may occur in 
certain circumstances 

1 in 10 
years 

Rare 1      

     1 2 3 4 5 

     Insignificant Minor Moderate Major Catastrophic 

  
Service /  

Operations 

No impact to 
service quality, 

limited disruption 
to operations 

 
 

Minor impact on 
service quality, 
minor service 

standards are not 
met, short term 

disruption to 
operations 

Significant fall in 
service quality, 

serious disruption 
to service 
standards 

Major impact to 
service quality, 
multiple service 
standards not 
met, long term 
disruption to 
operations 

Catastrophic fall 
in service quality 
and key service 

standards are not 
met, long term 
catastrophic 

interruption to 
operations 

  Reputation 

Public concern 
restricted to local 

complaints 

Minor adverse 
local / public / 

media attention 
and complaints 

Adverse regional 
or national media 
public attention 

Serious negative 
regional or 

national criticism 

Prolonged 
regional & 
national 

condemnation 

  Financial Cost (£) < £50k £50k - £350k £350k - £1m £1m - £5m >£5m 

  SEVERITY/IMPACT 

 

 

 
 

A detailed impact 
description is 
available in the 
Council Service 
Plan guidance 2017 

P
age 37



 

 

Appendix 4 – The Sustainable Development Principle  
 

  Long Term – We must take account of the importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard the ability 
to also meet long-term needs especially where things done to meet short term needs may have detrimental long term effect. 
The intended effect of the long term requirement is that you are aware of, and address, the well-being of current and future 
generations whilst addressing the needs of the people you currently serve.  Taking a long term view (up to 25 years) changes how 
we view and score risk.  Specific examples are available in the Service Plan Guidance. 

 Integration - How our well-being objectives may impact upon each of the well-being goals, or on the objectives of other 
public bodies.  The purpose of taking an integrated approach is to ensure that you recognise the interdependence that exists 
between the national and local well-being objectives. This interdepenence also applies to risk identification (cause and effect) and 
to solutions that support other peoples goals. 

Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may help public bodies meet their objectives. We 
must deploy resources to prevent problems occurring, or getting worse may contribute to meeting the body’s well-being objectives or 
another body’s objectives. Understanding the underlying causes of the problems people and communities face can help us find 
different solutions, intervene early and prevent problems from getting worse or arising in the future.  This connects to any mitigation 
actions that we put in place to mitigate risk or build on opportunities 

 Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different parts of the body itself) that could help the body to 
meet its well-being objectives.  The purpose of taking a collaborative approach is to recognise the different roles that public bodies 
play in tackling long-term challenges, and to ensure actions (to mitigate risks or create opportunities) are complimentary and 
maximise their collective impact. 

Involvement: The importance of involving other persons with an interest in achieving the well-being goals and of ensuring 
those persons reflect the diversity of the population: Effective involvement of people and communities is at the heart of improving 
well-being currently and in the future. It recognises the importance of involving people in decisions that affect them.  This is turn can 
make sure actions to address risk are the right ones. 
 

P
age 38



 
 

 

 

CABINET – 7TH JUNE 2017 
 

SUBJECT: A468/A469 PWLLYPANT ROUNDABOUT HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT 
SCHEME 

 
REPORT BY: HEAD OF ENGINEERING SERVICES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek Cabinet approval to utilise funding for and progress the construction of the 

A468/A469 Pwllypant roundabout highway improvement scheme. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The A468/A469 Caerphilly Northern Bypass is the main artery linking Caerphilly and 

settlements in the north of the borough to the trunk road network (A470, M4) and Cardiff. It is 
already heavily overloaded at peak periods and all junctions are at, or in excess of, capacity at 
peak times. The Pwllypant roundabout is the busiest node on this section of the strategic 
highway network and in the whole of the county borough. 

 
2.2 The proposed Pwllypant roundabout highway improvement will increase capacity on the 

roundabout such that it will not be overcapacity at the completion and will perform 
satisfactorily taking in to account known proposed developments (identified through the LDP 
review process) up to 2031 It would also improve journey time reliability for bus services and 
encourage public transport use and reduce traffic travelling through Caerphilly town thereby 
improving air quality. 

 
2.3 The scheme will be funded from developer contributions (S106) and Welsh Government grant 

funding. It is intended that construction will commence in September/October 2017 and take 
about twelve months to complete. 

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The proposed scheme contributes to the following Well-being Goals within the Well-being of 

Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015: 
 

 A prosperous Wales, 

 A healthier Wales,  

 A more equal Wales, 

 A Wales of cohesive communities, and  

 A globally responsible Wales. 
 

3.2 To work towards the Council’s corporate objective of improving peoples’ living environment 
through targeted actions, regulation, information and advice.  

  

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



3.3 Engineering Services Division Objective: To provide safe and efficient transport and land 
drainage infrastructure through quality services delivered by means of cost effective 
management, maintenance and improvement of the networks. 

 
3.4 Engineering Services Division Objective: To work towards a safer environment though 

 positive measures to reduce road accidents and particularly by protecting and providing for 
vulnerable road users. 

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 

Background to the scheme 

4.1 The adopted LDP (2010) that covers the period up to 2021 identifies a number of sites with 
potential for development for housing. A traffic analysis was undertaken to identify the 
highway improvements necessary to mitigate against the traffic generation from these 
proposed sites. This resulted in the Caerphilly Basin highway obligation Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG) for the following improvements in and around Caerphilly town: 

 

 A468/A469 Pwllypant Roundabout - Network efficiency junction improvement 

 A468/A469 Trecenydd Roundabout - Network efficiency junction improvement 

 Tafwys Walk - Junction Improvement 

 Piccadilly - Gyratory Improvements 

 A468 Bedwas Bridge Roundabout - Network efficiency junction improvement 

 A468 Pwllypant to Bedwas Bridge - Network efficiency improvements 

 The A468/A469 Trecenydd roundabout improvement was delivered in 2012/13 and is the 
only improvement delivered so far. 

 
The Pwllypant Highway Improvement Scheme 

4.2 The A468/A469 Caerphilly Northern Bypass is the main artery linking Caerphilly and 
settlements in the north of the borough to the trunk road network (A470, M4) and Cardiff. It is 
the point where the A468 from the east, A469 from the north and A468/A469 from the south 
merge and is the busiest junction in the county borough. The junction lies on the strategic 
highway network within Caerphilly County Borough and the roundabout handles 
significant volumes of traffic throughout the day, approximately 37,000 AADT flow (Annual 
Average Daily Traffic), and is important for commuter traffic to Cardiff and connectivity to the 
trunk road network (A470/M4). It has been identified in the Council’s adopted LDP and LTP 
and is the highest priority highway scheme yet to be delivered. 

 
4.3 The A468/A469 Caerphilly Northern Bypass is already heavily overloaded at peak periods and 

all junctions are at, or in excess of, capacity at peak times. The current design of the 
roundabout inhibits the efficient functioning of this key junction. The roundabout is not of a 
standard to adequately cope with the current level of traffic using the strategic route. It has 
significant negative impacts on the village of Llanbradach. 
 

4.4 This results in problems of congestion and extensive queuing during peak periods, and limits 
the efficiency of the strategic highway network. For example during the morning peak, traffic 
queues are experienced on the Lower Rhymney Relief Road, as a result of congestion at 
Pwllypant Roundabout affecting southbound traffic travelling towards Cardiff. During peak 
periods queuing traffic stretches back to previous junctions on the network, e.g. Coed-y-Brain 
and Wingfield roundabouts (the latter is a distance of approximately 2km), this then has 
knock-on impacts to the functioning of these junctions.   

 
4.5 Extensive queuing on all approaches to the roundabout during peak periods leads to 

unreliable journey times for all road users, including commuters, freight/ industrial traffic and 
public transport. Congestion at the roundabout impacts on accessibility and transport links 
between the trunk road network (A470/M4), key settlements and employment areas in Cardiff 
and Caerphilly and settlements to the north i.e. in the Heads of the Valleys area, which 
negatively impacts on measures to encourage economic development and regeneration. 

Page 40



4.6 Problems of congestion and queuing traffic at the junction results in through traffic diverting 
through Caerphilly town centre, which contributes to the existing air quality problems (there is 
a designated Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) within Caerphilly town centre), reduces 
the attractiveness of the town centre for pedestrians and cyclists and has impacts on journey 
time reliability of town centre bus services. The level of through traffic diverting through the 
town centre has a negative impact on measures to encourage active and sustainable travel in 
and to Caerphilly town centre. 

 
Funding 

4.7 It was the intention that all improvements, including Pwllypant Roundabout, would be wholly 
funded from S106 developer contributions under the SPG, from housing development within 
the Caerphilly Basin area.  However, the introduction of the community infrastructure levy 
(CIL) in 2014 meant the SPG came to an end and insufficient funds were amassed to fully 
fund the Pwllypant scheme. 

 
4.8 The current estimated funding required to deliver the scheme is £5.305m (based on the 

expired preferred bidder’s construction tender cost of £3.48m).  The current total of Caerphilly 
Basin S106 funds available is £3.593m, leaving a shortfall of £1.712m to find. Approximately 
£420k of WG funding (under Metro Phase 1) has been utilised to complete the design works 
and develop the scheme to the current position. 
 

4.9 A bid for Welsh Government (WG) Local Transport Funding (LTF) in 2017/18 was submitted 
for the maximum £1.5m available and has been successful. The net projected shortfall of 
£212k can be met from uncommitted WG funding from the Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr (YYF) highway 
improvement scheme (current balance £700k after adjusting for other commitments against 
this funding). WG approval has been granted to proceed on this basis. 

 
The funding profile for the project is detailed in the table below: 
 

 Year 1 
2017/2018 

(£,000) 

Year 2 
2018/2019 

(£,000) 

Year 3+ 
2019+ 
(£,000) 

Total 
(£,000) 

Design & 
accommodation 
works 

 
55 

 
30 

 
- 

 
85 

Construction 1525 2985 - 4510 

Project 
Management 

20 20 35 75 

Monitoring & 
evaluation 

- 20 30 50 

Post construction 
(e.g. part 1 
claims) 

- 185 400 585 

Totals 1600 3240 465 5305 

 
Risk 

4.10 Officers have undertaken a risk identification exercise as part of the scheme development and 
a risk register has been produced as a result.  Currently, £400k of risk has been allocated for 
unforeseen risks over the life time of the scheme.  The majority of this risk is likely to arise 
during the construction period. This sum is incorporated within the table above. 

 
4.11 Officers have identified areas where the scope of the works could be reduced or value 

engineered, to a value in excess of £100k, without affecting the overall aims and benefits of 
the scheme. These will be discussed with the contractor prior to awarding a contract.  

  

Page 41



4.12 The costs associated with post construction elements of the scheme such as part 1 claims 
have been estimated based on the results of a noise survey and subsequent noise model.  It 
is not possible to fully define these costs at the present time, but it is considered that realistic 
costs have been allocated based on historic scheme cost outturns. 
 

4.13 There is a risk that the costs could increase from the retendering exercise, especially in light 
of the recent UK government budget announcements and the fact that fuel prices are 
beginning to rise again. 

 
Key Features 

4.14 Please see attached plan of proposed scheme layout in Appendix 1. 
 

4.15 The scheme incorporates the following features: 
 

 Signalisation of the roundabout (i.e. full time traffic lights as a result of the introduction of a 
controlled pedestrian crossing facility on the arm to/from Trecenydd roundabout). 

 Incorporation of a pedestrian crossing facility on the East Bound lane of the A468/A469 
within the traffic control signalisation (formalising the existing uncontrolled crossing).   For 
this reason the whole of the traffic signal system for the roundabout will need to operate 
continuously.   

 New footway linking the existing pedestrian over bridge on the A468/A469 to the footway 
on Pontygwindy Road. 

 A469 from Llanbradach – additional filter lane and extension to existing filter lanes. 

 East Bound lane of A468/A469 dualled approach to roundabout and dualled exit from 
roundabout. 

 Pontygwindy Road - additional filter lane and extension in length to existing filters. 

 A468 Bedwas Arm - dualled approach and exit to roundabout. 
 

Benefits of the Scheme 

4.16 The existing roundabout is currently overcapacity at peak periods and the proposed 
improvements will increase capacity on the roundabout such that it will not be overcapacity at 
the completion and will perform satisfactorily taking in to account known proposed 
developments (identified through the LDP review process) up to 2031. 

 
4.17 The scheme as detailed in the preceding key features section will improve the capacity of the 

junction and improve traffic flow along this strategic route, which will improve efficiency, 
making better use of the existing highway network and future proof the junction. 

 
4.18 There are 18 bus movements each hour on a weekday and the current traffic levels in the 

morning and afternoon peak impact significantly on the ability to maintain reliable bus 
services, particularly as some of the services are on key strategic routes (for example service 
26 between Blackwood and Cardiff and service 50 between Bargoed and Newport). The 
proposed scheme would improve journey time reliability for bus services and encourage public 
transport use, accessibility to town centre facilities and social inclusion. 
 

4.19 Greater control of the junction will better manage traffic demand and improve safety. 
 

4.20 The scheme will lead to a reduction of traffic travelling through Caerphilly town centre resulting 
in improved accessibility and attractiveness of the town centre and environmental 
improvements and relief in terms of air quality, pedestrians and cyclists. 

 
Programme 

4.21 In order to meet the WG requirement to spend the £1.5m LTF funding by April 2018, the 
works need to commence in September/October 2017. In order to meet this timescale, 
procurement for the construction contract needs to be progressed ASAP alongside advance 
preparatory and environmental works (i.e. slow worm maintenance works, a bat survey, and 

Page 42



orders for diversion of statutory undertakers’ equipment). The scheme has a planned duration 
of 52 weeks. 
 

4.22 In order to meet the required timeframes to achieve the LTF funding spend by March 2018 a 
decision on the content and recommendations within the report is required by Cabinet.  As 
confirmation of the LTF funding has only recently been received from WG this report has not 
previously been included on the forward work programme.  However, any delay to the 
procurement process would mean that this funding would not be fully utilised. Unspent sums 
would be lost leaving a shortfall and jeopardising delivery of the scheme. The WG LTF 
funding is £1.5m and notification of award of this funding was only received on 22 March 
2017. 

 

Wider Highway Network Considerations 

4.23 Officers have been liaising with neighbouring local authorities and WG about proposed 
highway works in the area and what mitigation is possible to minimise the impact on road 
users as significant disruption is anticipated. 

 
4.24 WG proposals for highway improvements to J28 of the M4 and improvements to the A467 

Bassaleg Roundabout have recently begun.  Officers will continue to liaise with neighbouring 
local authorities and WG to review ongoing and planned works and minimise any possible 
disruption. 

 
Communication 

4.25 To date CCBC has given three formal briefings to Councillors within the Caerphilly Basin area 
(Cllr T Williams, who at the time was Cabinet Member for Highways, Transportation & 
Engineering, attended all three briefings) to enable them to comment on the proposed 
scheme layout and to agree Public Information day proposals.  Not all councillors attended 
these meetings.  In addition to this, Councillors within the Caerphilly Basin area have received 
a number of email updates regarding feasibility works, Public Information Day feedback etc. 
Local Community Councils, Fire, Police and NHS ambulance representatives have also been 
sent the scheme proposal drawings. 

 
4.26 Since the recent local government elections, briefings with the new Councillors and Cabinet 

Member have since taken place.  
 
4.27 A briefing has been given to the Caerphilly Town Centre Management Group to highlight 

details of the proposed scheme to Caerphilly Town Centre businesses. 
 

4.28 Three Public Information Days were held in January and February 2015 in Caerphilly Library, 
Pwllypant community centre and Penyrheol community centre to enable residents and local 
businesses to view and comment on the scheme proposals.  These were advertised widely 
including letter drops to residents within the vicinity. Plans were also left in Llanbradach 
community and Trecenydd community centres. 

 
4.29 Articles drawing awareness to the scheme proposals have been included in several editions of 

Newsline, local newspapers and Social Media.  There is a dedicated link to Pwllypant 
roundabout improvement on CCBC’s website. This will be maintained and updated throughout 
the construction works. 

 
4.30 Formal feedback regarding the proposed scheme layouts was received via a snap survey that 

was published on CCBC’s website during February 2015.   Responses from visitors who 
attended the three Public Information Days and left completed feedback forms were also input 
into the online survey.  In total 60  responses to the survey were received of which 85% were 
supportive of the scheme, not all people responding to the survey left formal responses.  A 
summary of the feedback from the snap survey is contained in Appendix 2. 

Page 43



Following formal briefings to Councillors within the Caerphilly Basin area, a controlled 
pedestrian crossing was added to the A468/9 arm.  Caerphilly Basin Councillors have been 
supportive of the scheme proposals to date. 
 
Feedback from the Caerphilly Town Centre Management Group was limited but concerns 
were raised regarding disruption to businesses within the Town during the construction works. 

  
Only Gwent Police from the emergency services have provided formal feedback.  They are 
supportive of the scheme. 

 
4.31 The appointed Contractor will be required to develop and implement a communication 

strategy/plan (this was previously part of the quality submission for the tender), to proactively 
engage with the local community and keep them and road users informed of progress and 
developments. This will require close liaison with Officers and the Council’s Communications 
team. 

 
Access and Traffic Management issues 

4.32 It is intended to hold an ECE (Early Contractor engagement) briefing with prospective 
contractor organisations to highlight the need to minimise disruption to motorists, residents 
and businesses in the area and to stress the need for suitable traffic management proposals. 
 

4.33 Increasingly, to avoid the long queues on the A469, motorists are diverting off the A469 at the 
Wingfield roundabout and travelling through Llanbradach and re-joining the A469 at the Coed 
y Brain Roundabout. CCBC’s traffic management section have met with Llanbradach 
Councillors and have already implemented additional waiting restrictions at certain key points 
within the village as a measure to try to prevent congestion forming within Llanbradach.   

 
4.34 It is recognised that queues during the construction works will temporarily increase which may 

encourage motorists to continue to divert through Llanbradach.  As a result CCBC’s traffic 
management section is currently trialling additional traffic calming measures within the village 
of Llanbradach and on the approach to the Coed-y-Brain roundabout. 

 
4.35 To ensure the safety of motorists and workers during construction road closures may be 

required on Pontygwindy Road and Heol Pwllypant for a period of up to 6 weeks.  When the 
final surfacing is laid, staggered road closures may be required on all roads approaching and 
exiting from the roundabout.  The specific road closure requirements will depend on the 
construction methods proposed by the contractor awarded the works and will be subject to 
agreement from CCBC’s traffic management section. 

 
4.36 Officers have sought approval from WG to utilise matrix signs on the A470 to inform motorists 

of delays due to construction works at Pwllypant Roundabout.  In addition to this, as part of 
the communication plan and temporary traffic management measures, signs at strategic 
points throughout CCBC will be placed where motorists can then choose to alter their journey 
route and advising of other works where possible. 

 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 This report contributes to the Well-being Goals as set out in Links to Strategy above. It is 

consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 
principle in the Act in that all strategic highway improvements are contained in the LDP and 
LTP.   

 
5.2 The LDP places great emphasis on sustainable development and seeks to protect the 

environment for both the current and future needs of the population, ensuring that there is a 
viable future for the county borough’s towns and villages.  As part of the LDP process the 
Council engages with residents, service users, stakeholders and partners.  The LDP is subject 
to independent Strategic Environment Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal which balance 
economic, social and environmental issues. 

Page 44



6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no equalities implications to this report that have not been considered or would 

adversely affect any individual or group who fall under one of the protected characteristics or 
wider issues as shown in the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan. 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The scheme is estimated to cost £5.305m to deliver (this includes a risk allowance of £400k). 

S106 funding of £3.593m and LTF funding of £1.5m will be used to deliver the scheme with 
any shortfall in funding being met by virement from the YYF funds. The LTF award sanctions 
the use of WG YYF funding to the delivery of the A468/A469 Pwllypant highway improvement 
scheme. 

 
7.2 It should be noted that the S106 agreements contain clauses which require the contributions 

to be repaid to the developer a set time after the S106 is signed if the schemes listed in the 
Caerphilly Basin highway obligation SPG are not progressed.  Trigger repayments amounting 
to £38k for some of the S106 agreements occur in 2017, £39k in 2018 and significant 
repayments of £757k occur in 2019. The proposed funding profile detailed within this report 
mitigates these trigger payments. 

 
7.3 The works will be procured in accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders and in 

consultation with Procurement services to ensure best value is achieved. 
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no personnel implications. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 All responses from consultations have been incorporated into this report and ongoing 

communication and consultation will continue throughout the project.  
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Cabinet approves delivery of the Pwllypant roundabout highway improvement scheme as a 

priority highway scheme. 
 
10.2 Cabinet supports the use of the £1.5m LTF funding in 2017/18 and approves the preparatory 

and environmental works necessary and the construction procurement tendering exercise to 
commence in summer 2017. 

 
10.3 Cabinet approves the virement of up to £700k from the YYF funds to the Pwllypant 

roundabout scheme as necessary balance funding to deliver the scheme. 
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To meet the Council’s planning and transport objectives under the LDP and ensure this 

section of the strategic highway network has sufficient capacity to meet future needs. 
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
.1 Highways Act 1980. 

Page 45



 
 
Author: Clive Campbell, Transportation Engineering Manager campc@caerphilly.gov.uk 

ext. 5339 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy – Corporate Director of Communities 
 Nicole Scammell, Acting Director of Corporate Services & S151 
 Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 

Marcus Lloyd – Interim Head of Engineering Services 
Stephen Harris – Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
Kevin Kinsey – Acting Engineering Projects Group Manager 
Kate Dowdall – Senior Engineer 
Gemma Thomas – Principal Engineer (Transport Strategy & Road Safety) 
Trish Reardon – HR Manager 
Anwen Rees – Senior Policy Officer (Equalities and Welsh Language)  

 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 - Proposed scheme layout 
Appendix 2 – Snap Survey Feedback  
 
Background papers: None 

Page 46



Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



   

  

Appendix 2 

 

 
 
 
 
 

This report was generated on 09/03/15, giving the results for 60 respondents. 
A filter of 'All Respondents' has been applied to the data. 

 
The following charts are restricted to the top 12 codes. Lists are restricted to the most recent 
100 rows. 

 
Do you support the scheme? 

 
 

Yes (51) 
 

No (9) 

 

 
 
15% 

85% 

 
 
 

Do you want the controlled pedestrian crossing? (Even with the adverse effect on 
queuing on Pontygwindy Road) 

 
 

Yes (27) 46% 
 

No (32)  54% 
 
 
 

Are you a; 
 
 

Resident adjacent to the scheme? (37) 

Commuter (25) 

Business Owner (3)  5% 
 

Other (1)  2% 

 

 
 
42% 

62% 

 
 
 

If other, please specify 
 

If other, please specify 

I live in Heol Barri and use the roundabout several times a day 

I live in Llanbradach and sometimes walk into town and you take your life in your hands here 

Resident of Llanbradach 

I live on Corbetts Lane 

Page 49



   

  

Appendix 2 

 

 

 
 

How often do you travel through the scheme? 
 
 

Daily (56) 

Weekly (3)  5% 

Monthly (1)   2% 

Not at all/ infrequently (-) 

93% 

 
 
 

Do you have any comments on the proposals? 

Do you have any comments on the proposals? 

About time something was done, thank you. 

I don't feel that there is any major problem with the current road system 

It's important that the proposals go ahead to alleviate traffic congestion on the bypass. However, the 
Council needs to secure funding to dual Caerphilly bypass from the pwll-y-pant roundabout to 
Nantgarw, which should have been completed years ago. 

Waste of money, more lanes needed on A469 trencenydd to pwll-y-pant, would alleviate all issues, 
another shocking traffic proposal by caerphilly council, idiotic idea, again!!!!!!! 

I think traffic signals are a must. 

This will cause more problems and prolong commuters travel rather than shorten it, poor decisions 
making 

Make it safer for bicyles to use and crossing the roads by foot with a bike would be a great help.   As a 
driver also can the traffic lights be part time so that the junction can be used as a roundabout later or 
earlier without stopping. 

When carrying out the work please consider the effect it will have on the commuter on this already 
extremely busy roundabout, for some of us this is the only route we can take and there is no alternative 
way to go, i use this route 6 times a day 

Badly needed improvements 

Traffic signage should indicate locl traffic only through Penyrheol & Energlyn whilst works are 
underway. 

No. 

Don't want any more noise at rear of my property, request for soundproof fence, would prefer to keep 
orignal road layout with the introduction of traffic lights. 

This needs to happen 

This willl help ease the nightmare commute. 

No 

I consider there will be need for some restraining measure (low wall/crash barriers) at the rear of my 
property as the only other restraint would be my flimsy wooden fence. 

Well done 

Not happy with 'part time' lights - they are not safe! 

Move pavement at Llanbradach Roundabout and extent to the brow of the hill approx 30 metres further 

The crossing is a good idea, however if it afects the flow of traffic then it defeats the idea of the 
improvements. 

No, other than improvements should be taken to the next roundabout footpath going to Llanbradach 
should be looked at. 

Page 50



   

  

Appendix 2 

 

 

 
 

Do you have any comments on the proposals? 

Do you have any comments on the proposals? 

Should improve traffic flow and improve pedestrian safety. 

The pedestrian crossing is essential. Expecting mothers without transport to cross via the bridge to get 
to Asda, whilst pushing prams is not acceptable, particularly in winter. 

Would be ideal if additional lighting was provided in Wilkins Terrace to make using the footbridge safer. 

Disability access to Pontygwindy Road. 

Pedestrian lights desperately needed for safety. 

Concerns about the traffic on Heol Pwll-y-Pant during improvements on roundabout (rat run) children 
playing concerns even when improvement not started. 

Heol Pwll-y-Pant is used as a rat run, from Bowls thro Y Cilgant, please close Y Cilgant.  Suggest 
flyover from Nelson direction to Nantgarw? Emergency vehicles from YYF Hospital to Caerphilly dual 
carraigeway can be blocked from hospital to roundabout. 

Will help exiting Pwll-y-Pant! 

Good to see lights and allowing flow of traffic. 

Long over due!! As a runner great to see I could possibly cross the road safely without going through 
the Trading Estate. 

A very good idea should have been done years ago. 

Good plans, very well explained. 

Please complete as soon as possible. 

Like the redirection of footbridge walkway avoiding industrial area. Ensure Pwllypant end is lit better as 
well. 

Needs more thought. 

Prefer retaining footbridge and creating a footpath as suggested by your department. 

As a resident of Llanbradach I have serious concerns about the knock-on effect that these works will 
have on the village, as traffic will inevitably increase as people try to avoid queues on the A469 

If part time - what times? Problem being if 1 yr construction huge impact on traffic via 
Penyrheol/Caledfryn, high impact on traffic from Senghenydd/Abertridwr/Hendredenny, already a 
nightmare. More consultation needed with residents of these areas. 

Would strongly support retaining footbridge with a footpath as outlined on your drawing. 

Concerns about increased use of Heol Pwllypant during works and longterm. No consideration for this 
exist in scheme traffic 'calming' measures currently in place 'stop' rather than 'calm' traffic, traffic on 
road while works carried out not considered. 

If traffic lights part time, what times? As working on bypass Heol Aneurin Penyrheol is used for 
Senghenydd, Abertridwr and Llanbradach, you can't cross road or get out of side roads. Put notice in 
Caerphilly Observer as it comes out fortnightly. 

Concerns regarding delays during construction works.  Request for yellow hatched box junction on exit 
from Pontygwindy Ind' Est. onto Pontygwinddy Road . Request for 10 days notice to businesses if road 
needs to be closed to be written into contract. 

Please don't allow this to happens, this will cause chaos for commuters and I question the survey of 
pedestrian use numbers as it does seem accurate!!! 

Access to the roundabout from Corbetts Lane needs to be easier than currently - no signals would 
make this even harder (particularly turning right).  If signals are installed, they need to allow easy exit 
from the lane. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



 

 
 

 

 

CABINET – 7TH JUNE 2017 
 

SUBJECT: UNIT 21 LAWN INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, RHYMNEY – LEASE 
RENEWAL TO THE FURNITURE REVIVAL, GC ENTERPRISES 
(WALES) LTD 

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek approval for the Council to enter into a new 10 year lease to GC Enterprises (Wales) 

Ltd (trading as The Furniture Revival) for Unit 21 Lawn Industrial Estate, which comprises 
13,103 sq ft, at an annual rental of £1 per annum. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd trading as The Furniture Revival and predecessor organisations 

has been in occupation of Unit 21 Lawn Industrial Estate since May 2001 when a 10 year 
lease was granted and subsequently the company has held over on the existing agreement by 
virtue of the Landlord & Tenant Act 1954.  The lease is on fully repairing and insuring terms at 
an annual rental of £1 per annum. 

 
2.2 The Furniture Revival is a social enterprise which through minimising waste to landfill by reuse 

and recycling supports the community and alleviates poverty by providing access to 
household furniture, electrical items and household paint whilst providing a hub for volunteers 
and facilitating training to enhance employability and skills. 

 
2.3 GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd have identified the need for capital purchases and refurbishment 

works in order to continue operating at the site.  They have successfully applied for financial 
assistance through the Council’s Community Regeneration Fund (CRF) and £22,855.06 has 
been awarded in principle.  The CRF funding criteria requires that any beneficiary in rented 
accommodation to have an unexpired lease of a minimum duration of 10 years.  Therefore, 
GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd has requested that the Council enter into a new 10 year lease 
agreement on the same terms and conditions as the expired lease. 

 
2.4 The report sets out how the request for a new lease meets the requirements of the Council’s 

Protocol for the Disposal of Property.  The report also details the financial implications if the 
new lease is agreed and how the Council would comply with the EC regulations on State Aid.  

 
2.5 Cabinet approval is being sought to enter into a new 10 year lease with GC Enterprises 

(Wales) Ltd trading as The Furniture Revival at less than the best price that could potentially 
otherwise be achieved in the interests of the economic, social or environmental well being of 
the whole or part of the County Borough.  Entering into a 10 year lease will also satisfy the 
conditions associated with the in principle CRF funding award to GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd. 

  

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 

 
3.1 The provision of key employment sites has been a priority in the Council’s regeneration 

strategy, the “Single Integrated Plan” and WG’s regeneration framework “Vibrant and Viable 
Places”. 

 
3.2 GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd trading as The Furniture Revival assists the Local Authority in its 

statutory duty under the EU Waste Framework Directive 2008 to manage waste through 
recycling.  The Furniture Revival's recycling, employment, training and social activities 
contribute towards the aims of the Environment Act 2016, WG's "Towards Zero Waste Wales - 
One Wales : One Planet" policy, the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 and the 
priorities and aims within the Council's "Single Integrated Plan" and "Anti-Poverty Strategy". 

 
3.3 The Council’s industrial property portfolio and The Furniture Revival's activities based within a 

Council industrial unit promotes economic activity through provision of employment 
opportunities and contributes to the objectives for sustainable development as set out in the 
Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 by engendering:- 

 

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales 

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of Cohesive Communities  

 A globally responsive Wales. 
 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 Unit 21 Lawn Industrial Estate comprises 13,130 sq ft and has been occupied by GC 

Enterprises (Wales) Ltd, currently trading as The Furniture Revival, and predecessor 
organisations since May 2001.   

 
4.2 The Furniture Revival originally began in 1999 as Groundwork Caerphilly's Community 

Furniture Enterprise project.  Since its establishment the project has been governed by 
Groundwork, initially via the Groundwork Caerphilly Trust, more recently through the 
Groundwork Wales Trust, and in 2007 the project became a Company Limited by guarantee, 
operating as a non-profit distributing social enterprise.  The Authority has a long-standing 
association with the project. 

 
4.3 The Furniture Revival is a social enterprise which seeks to achieve environmental, social, 

financial, and community goals.  Through minimising waste to landfill by reuse and recycling 
initiatives The Furniture Revival aims to alleviate poverty by providing access to household 
furniture, electrical items and household paint whilst supporting the community by providing a 
hub for volunteers and facilitating training to enhance employability and skills. 

 
4.4 The Furniture Revival has seen steady growth in recent years and staff numbers have grown 

from five in 2011 to 14 full and part-time posts (FTE of 9) in 2017, the majority of whom live in 
the Upper Rhymney Valley, and aims to continue its growth plan for long term economic 
sustainability.  The Furniture Revival undertakes several projects in partnership with the 
Council which include:- 

 

 Furniture and electrical reuse. 

 Community repaint Caerphilly. 

 Office clearance / Home moves. 

 Community refloor / Homelife. 

 The book revival. 

 Promotion of waste awareness and sustainability. 
 
 

Page 54



 
4.5 The positive impact of The Furniture Revival is demonstrated by its 2016 outputs: 
 

 202 tonnes of furniture, electrical items and paint diverted from landfill 

 The cost to the Authority for the disposal of these items would have been nearly 
£20,000  

 Social benefits include working with 76 volunteers who have provided nearly 4,000 
hours of their time, 145 schools engaged with and 28 community groups supported. 

 
4.6 In 2001 the Council leased Unit 21, Lawn Industrial Estate, Rhymney on a 10 year lease at a 

£1 per annum rental, with associated fully repairing and insuring terms.  The original lease 
was granted in return for the project providing the Council with assistance in meeting recycling 
targets, assisting low income households and creating supported employment and training 
opportunities.  

 
 It was anticipated that the project would have been self funding at the end of 5 years.  The 

original lease expired in 2011, but at that time there were concerns over the future of the 
project, as it had not achieved self-funding status and grant assistance that had previously 
been provided was being withdrawn. 

 
 Subsequently the project has continued to operate and remained in occupation of Unit 21 

Lawn Industrial Estate by holding over on their original lease agreement by virtue of the 
Landlord & Tenant Act 1954. 

 
4.7 Under the 1954 Act a business tenant has the right to a new lease on terms to be agreed and 

the market rent is estimated at circa £13,130-£19,695 per annum, based on £1-£1.50 per ft2.
 This is lower than rentals achieved elsewhere on the estate, as Unit 21 is significantly larger 
and no other demand has been identified in the Upper Rhymney Valley area for Council 
owned business units of this size.  

 
4.8  GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd wish to continue their operations at Unit 21 but have identified the 

need for capital purchases and refurbishment works.  They have successfully applied for 
financial assistance through the Council’s Community Regeneration Fund (CRF) and 
£22,855.06 was awarded in principle in November 2016 and revised and re-confirmed in 
March 2017 to specifically exclude building maintenance related costs from the CRF award.  

 
4.9 The CRF funding criteria requires that any beneficiary in rented accommodation to have an 

unexpired lease of a minimum duration of 10 years.  In order to be able to benefit from the 
CRF funding, GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd has requested that the Council enter into a new 10 
year lease agreement on the same terms and conditions as the expired lease. 

 
4.10 The Local Government Act 1972 : General Disposal Consent (Wales) 2003 allows the Council 

to enter into a disposal at an undervalue where it considers that the disposal is in the interests 
of the economic, social or environmental well-being of the whole or any part of its area, or any 
or all persons resident or present in its area and the undervalue is £2,000,000 or less. 

 
4.11 Under the council’s constitution, a lease of 10 years duration is a disposal and the Council’s 

Protocol for Disposal of Property requires that:- 
 

 Paragraph 8.1(vi) – “All disposals will be at the best price achievable.  Any disposal at less 
than the best price available to be approved by Cabinet and, if appropriate, the National 
Assembly for Wales.”  

  
4.12 Given that this would be a 10-year lease at a potential maximum rental of £19,000, officers 

consider the capitalised value to be within those limits and that WG approval need not be 
sought. However, the Council should notify its external auditor within 28 days of taking the 
decision to do so. 

  

Page 55



 
4.13 Accordingly, Cabinet approval is being sought to enter into a new 10 year lease with GC 

Enterprises (Wales) Ltd trading as The Furniture Revival at less than the best price that could 
potentially otherwise be achieved in the interests of the economic, social or environmental well 
being of the whole or part of the County Borough.  Entering into a 10 year lease will also 
satisfy the conditions associated with the in principle CRF funding award to GC Enterprises 
(Wales) Ltd. 

 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 This proposal contributes to the Well-being Goals as set out in Links to Strategy above.  It is 

consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 
principle in the Act and it is aimed at improving the environmental, social and economic well-
being of the area. 

 
5.2 The proposal aligns with the following well-being goals:- 
 

 A prosperous Wales – providing local employment opportunities in the community that 
create prosperity for the local population. 

 A resilient Wales – providing employment opportunities makes the area more resilient to 
external economic factors. 

 A more equal Wales - ensuring that the disadvantaged people have access to good 
quality, affordable furniture and electrical goods. 

 A Wales of Cohesive Communities – providing local employment opportunities stabilises 
and develops local communities and prevents outmigration as people seek work 
opportunities elsewhere.  

 A globally responsive Wales - reducing the impact of climate change through recycling 
products thereby minimising disposal to landfill and the need for providing replacement 
raw materials. 

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 An EIA has been completed in accordance with the council’s Strategic Equality Plan and 

supplementary guidance and no potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low level or minor 
negative impact has been identified, therefore a full EIA has not been carried out. 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Should Cabinet agree to enter into the proposed lease, the Council will lose potential income 

of circa £13,130-£19,695 per annum, for the duration of the lease.  However, whilst there is 
considerable demand for small industrial units of 500-1,500 sq ft in the Upper Rhymney 
Valley, there is no demand for premises of the larger size of Unit 21 of 13,103 sq ft.  
Consequently, if Unit 21 is not occupied by GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd there is potential for 
the premises to remain vacant for some considerable time, until an alternate tenant is 
secured.   

 
7.2 If Unit 21 were to be vacated by GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd, the Council would be liable for 

the property's National Non Domestic Rates, £12,255.50 for 2017/18, until an alternate 
tenancy is secured.  It should also be noted that GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd’s activities also 
reduced landfill by 202 tonnes in 2016, which represents a cost saving of nearly £20,000 for 
the Council. 

 
7.3  Should the Council provide GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd with a new lease at a £1 per annum 

the advice of Legal Services is that this would be considered to be State Aid.  However, as the 
amount of State Aid falls within the acceptable European Commission limit that will not distort 
competition it can be regarded as ‘de minimis’ aid.  Therefore, if Cabinet approves the new 10 

Page 56



 
year lease for the unit, appropriate State Aid monitoring arrangements will be put in place to 
ensure compliance with the State Aid de minimis regulations. 

 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report.  
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 The comments from consultees have been included in the report. 
 
9.2 The three Ward Members for Moriah and Twyn Carno Wards, which are in the vicinity of the 

unit, were consulted in February 2017 and all are in favour of renewing the lease with GC 
Enterprises (Wales) Ltd on the terms proposed.   

 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That Cabinet approves that the Council enter into a new 10-year lease, at a rental of £1 per 

annum and otherwise on the same terms, with GC Enterprises (Wales) Ltd trading as The 
Furniture Revival for Unit 21 Lawn Industrial Estate. 

 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 In the interests of the economic, social or environmental well being of the whole or part of the 

County Borough to support The Furniture Revival, which through minimising waste to landfill 
by reuse and recycling, sustains the community and alleviates poverty by providing access to 
household furniture, electrical items and household paint whilst providing a hub for volunteers 
and facilitating training to enhance employability and skills. 

 
11.2 To comply with the Council’s Protocol for Disposal of Property. 
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 General Disposal Consent (Wales) 2003.  Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000.  This is a 

Cabinet function. 
 
 
Author: David Whetter Interim Head of Regeneration (whettdj@caerphilly.gov.uk) 
Consultees: Cllr Sean Morgan Cabinet Member for Economy, Infrastructure and Sustainability 

Christina Harrhy Corporate Director, Communities 
Colin Jones Head of Performance and Property Services (consulted in 

February 2017) 
 Mark Williams Interim Head of Property 
 Tim Broadhurst Section Head Estates 
 Mark S Williams  Head of Community & Leisure Services 
 Stephen Harris Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
 David Roberts Principal Group Accountant 
 Russell Allen Senior Legal Assistant 
 Antony Bolter Business Support & Funding Manager 
 Alison Ward  Business Support & Funding Industrial Property Manager 
 Interim Head of Regeneration Cllr. David Harse Councillor for Moriah Ward  
 Cllr. John Bevan Councillor for Moriah Ward 
 Cllr. Carl Cuss Councillor for Twyn Carno Ward 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 
 

 

 

CABINET - 7TH JUNE 2017 
 

SUBJECT: BRYN COMPOST LIAISON GROUP TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR- SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 In March 2010, Council agreed to establish the Bryn Compost Liaison Group. Following a 

request from the Liaison Group to extend its terms of reference to incorporate odours created 
by  farming activities, this report seeks the view of Cabinet on the future operation of the  
Group prior to its presentation to Council.  

 
1.2 Part 2 of the Council’s constitution provides that full Council is responsible for “agreeing 

and/or amending the terms of reference for committees, sub committees, panels and boards, 
deciding on their composition and making appointments to them”. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Bryn Compost Ltd operates as a commercial composting business at Gelliargwellt Uchaf Farm 

in Gelligaer. The Bryn Compost Liaison Group was established in March 2010 in order to 
address complaints of odour experienced around the Gelliargwellt Uchaf Farm location. The 
Liaison Group is composed of representatives from the Bryn Compost Company, 
Environmental Health, Natural Resources Wales, Public Health Wales, adjoining local ward 
members and ten residents and chaired by the Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure 
Services. Its existing terms of reference are detailed in the appendix to the report. A local ward 
member suggested that the terms of reference should be extended to incorporate odours 
created by farming activities and this was supported by the Liaison Group.  
 

 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 This proposal supports the authority’s aim to maximise its contribution towards the national 

well-being goals for Wales under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and 
in particular contributes to: 

 
• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A globally responsible Wales 

  

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 The Gelliargwellt Uchaf Farm complex is comprised of various businesses including Bryn 

Quarry, a waste recycling facility, a working milking cattle farm, an In-Vessel Composting 
(IVC)facility and an energy from waste anaerobic digestion (AD)facility.  

 
4.2 Over recent years, improvements in the management and operation of the IVC, together with 

the introduction of the AD facility has significantly reduced the number of odour incidents 
associated with the composting facility. The number of complaints relating to composting 
odours has also significantly declined with members of the Liaison Group remarking on a 
substantial improvement. Attendance at the Liaison Group has declined over recent times with 
some meetings attended by just one or two local ward members and four members of the 
public from Nelson and Gelligaer. 

 
4.3 Such positive improvements have been countered by a limited number of residents 

occasionally reporting complaints of odour associated with farming activities such as feeding 
cattle, cutting silage and spreading slurry as fertiliser. As such a local ward member has 
suggested that the terms of reference for the Liaison Group should be expanded to include 
the farming activities and this was supported by the those present.  

 
4.4 Complaints of farming related odours have been investigated and found to be transient with 

no evidence of statutory nuisance. The farming practices also comply with best practice 
guidance. 

 
4.5 Members should be aware that the investigation of such farm related odours are considered 

to be “business as usual” and therefore do not require the provision of a specific liaison group. 
Liaison groups have not been established for other farms across the county borough. 
Furthermore, the significant reduction in complaints associated with the composting facility 
suggests that the Liaison Group has successfully served its purpose and as such has reached 
a natural conclusion. 

 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 This proposal contributes to the Well-being Goals as set out in Links to Strategy above. It is 

consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 
principle in the Act in that it has successfully integrated a problem solving approach with other 
agencies to set priorities, involved the local population in the decisions that affected them,  
and explored the root cause of the issues to minimise future re-occurrences. 

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no equalities implications.  
 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications.  
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no personnel implications as a result of this report. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no consultations that have not been included in the report  

Page 60



10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Members are asked to consider the future role of Bryn Compost Liaison Group and made a 

recommendation thereon to Council. 
 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1  To consider the future role of the Bryn Compost Liaison Group. 
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 
 
Author:  Ceri Edwards, Environmental Health Manager edwarc@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Cabinet Member 
 Chris Burns Interim Chief Executive 
 David Street Corporate Director Social Services 
 Rob Hartshorn Head of Public Protection 
  Gail Williams Interim Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
 Jon Goldsworthy Natural Resources Wales 
 Adam Ward Natural Resources Wales 
 Catriona Harvey Natural Resources Wales 
    Public Health Wales 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Bryn Compost Liaison Group Terms of Reference 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



Appendix 1: Existing Terms of Reference 
 

APPENDIX 1 
BRYN COMPOST LIAISON GROUP 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
1. PURPOSE 
 

1. To promote effective communication between Bryn Compost, the Local Residents, 
Members, Natural Resources Wales, Public Health Wales and Local Authority Officers.  

 
2. To receive and consider complaints and concerns about the current operation of Bryn 

Compost in so far as it impacts on the local communities 
 
3. To receive information about action taken by regulatory, statutory and other bodies in 

relation to the operation of Bryn Compost, with particular regard to complaints 
received.    

 
 
2. MEMBERSHIP  
  

County Borough:  
Adjoining Ward Members and respective Cabinet Member 

 
Residents:  
10 local resident representatives 

 
Bryn Compost Ltd: Mr A. Price or his representative  

 
  Public Health Service: Representative  
 

Natural Resources Wales: Representative  
 
Environmental Health: Ceri Edwards and Gary Mumford  

 
Co-opted members: as may from time to time be required. 

 
 
3. OFFICERS 
 

Chair: Respective Cabinet Member, who will act as the Group's co-ordinator 
 

Administrative Secretary: Committee Services Officer, who will make a record of the 
proceedings  
 
 

4. MEETINGS 
 

Meetings of the Group will be held at intervals of three months or as deemed appropriate by 
the Chair.  Meetings will be held during office hours at the Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Offices, Ty Penallta or an alternative Council Office, depending on availability of meeting 
rooms. 

 
 
5. REPORTING ARRANGEMENTS 

 

Page 63



Notices of meetings, minutes and other appropriate papers will be circulated to members of 
the Group. It will be the responsibility of the Administrative Secretary to ensure circulation of 
the minutes to appropriate persons.  

 
The Group will also liaise with other agencies and organisations as deemed appropriate.   

Page 64


	Agenda
	3 Cabinet held on 12th April 2017.
	4 Corporate Revised Risk Strategy and Guidance.
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	5 A468/A469 Pwllypant Roundabout Highway Improvement Scheme.
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6 Unit 21 Lawn Industrial Estate, Rhymney - Lease Renewal to the Furniture Revival, GC Enterprises (Wales) LTD.
	7 Bryn Compost Liaison Group Terms of Reference.
	Appendix 1


